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Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. is a leading worldwide underwriter of reinsurance and
specialty insurance, with total assets of $11.2 billion and $3.7 billion in shareholders’
equity as of December 31, 2012.

Odyssey Re Holdings Corp., headquartered in Stamford, Connecticut, operates globally
under the banner OdysseyRe. Supported by $3.2 billion of statutory policyholders’
surplus, we underwrite a wide range of property and casualty reinsurance and
insurance products through our subsidiaries: Odyssey Reinsurance Company, Odyssey
Reinsurance Company Escritério de Representag¢ao no Brasil Ltda., Hudson Insurance
Company, Hudson Specialty Insurance Company, Newline Underwriting Management
Limited, OdysseyRe’s managing agent at Lloyd’s, Newline Asia Services Pte. Ltd.,
Newline Australia Insurance Pty. Ltd. and Newline Insurance Company Limited.

OdysseyRe is rated “A” (Excellent) by A.M. Best Company and “A-” (Strong)
by Standard & Poor’s.

Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fairfax Financial Holdings
Limited. Fairfax is a financial services holding company, publicly traded on the
Toronto Stock Exchange, under the symbol, FFH, with total assets of $36.9 billion
and $8.9 billion in shareholders’ equity.

Global enterprise.
Local expertise.

At OdysseyRe, we take pride in the fact that we write
business in more than 100 countries worldwide. But
success is not built on scale alone — we also know that

experience and local knowledge of the markets in which
we serve are equally important and key contributors to
the continued growth of our organization.
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Financial Highlights

Odyssey Re Holdings Corp.

(dollars in millions)

2012 2011 2010

Gross premiums written S 2,773.2 S 2,420.7 S 2,167.3
Net premiums written 2,402.3 2,089.7 1,853.8
Net premiums earned 2,315.3 2,014.7 1,885.7
Net investment income 162.2 284.2 327.9
Net realized investment gains 64.7 65.8 170.3
Income (loss) before income taxes 458.2 (87.0) 431.4
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders 280.3 (67.7) 327.1
Total assets 11,217.6 10,616.5 11,114.6
Shareholders’ equity, as reported 3,678.8 3,335.4 3,669.0
Shareholders’ equity, pro forma 3,678.8 3,335.4 3,320.5@
Return on average common equity 8.1% (2.1%) 9.2%
Combined ratio 88.7% 116.8% 98.6%
@ Excludes Clearwater Insurance Company, which the Company

transferred its ownership interest on January 1, 2011
Gross Premiums Written by Division
(dollars in millions)

2012 2011 2010

Americas $ 1,125.3 S 792.7 S 747.4
EuroAsia 585.9 607.4 538.6
London Market 3329 360.4 339.0
US Insurance 729.1 660.2 542.3
Total gross premiums written S 2,773.2 S 2,420.7 S  2,167.3
Gross Premiums Total Assets Shareholders’ Statutory Surplus
Written (S in billions) Equity (S in billions)
(S in billions) (S in billions)

N N N N N o = = = = N w w w w w w w w w

w N N kN ) N g : : : £ o ] w N] =) n w =) N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

g ¢ 8 2 £ g ¢ 8 2 £ g ¢ 8 2 £ g ¢ 8 2 £




o~
—
o
o~
=
o
o
o
w
o
o
<
>
=z
4
<
a
o
o
o
v
o
z
o
jur
o
T
w
o
>
i
v
%)
>
o
o

Dear Friends,
Business
Partners and
Colleagues

What a difference a year makes!

OdysseyRe had a fantastic year in 2012,
our best ever in many respects, and it
couldn’t have come soon enough as we
recovered a significant portion of the
underwriting losses we sustained in 2011.
What is especially gratifying is that our
success in 2012 was driven by our
underwriting performance. Whereas
OdysseyRe has benefited from Fairfax’s
investing prowess to drive earnings and
book value growth historically, it was
underwriting that propelled our results
in 2012.

Now more than ever, with interest rates
hovering near record lows, underwriting
needs to be a significant earnings generator
if we are to achieve acceptable returns.
While I’'m confident this can be achieved,
given the quality of our underwriting
franchise, this needs to occur against the
backdrop of a global (re)insurance market
that continues to languish from an
oversupply of capacity.

For the full year, OdysseyRe produced a
combined ratio of 88.7% and record net
underwriting profits of $262 million. To put
these results into context, our previous best
underwriting performance was in 2006 when
net underwriting profits totaled $124 million.

Our 2012 results included a $175 million loss
provision for Superstorm Sandy. The reserve
we posted for Sandy, which added 7.5 points
to our full year net combined ratio, was
based on a market loss in excess of

$25 billion.

Prior year loss reserves developed
favorably for the fifth consecutive
year. Reserve releases in 2012 totaled
$151 million, reducing the combined
ratio by 6.6 points. More than half of
the releases related to the take down
of prior years’ catastrophe reserves.

Pre-tax earnings for 2012 totaled

$458 million and GAAP equity grew 11%
to $3.7 billion. Total assets increased by
more than $600 million to $11.2 billion
driven in large part by strong underwriting
cash flows.

OdysseyRe is a globally diversified
underwriter of property and casualty
reinsurance and specialty insurance
operating through four divisions (% of
gross written premiums): Americas (41%),
EuroAsia (21%), London Market (12%)
and US Insurance (26%). We write business
in more than 100 territories through

a network of 24 offices located

in 10 countries around the world.

We have 30 discrete business segments
organized along different product, territorial
and distribution lines with 16 of these
segments focused in the reinsurance arena
and the remaining 14 dedicated to insurance
markets. Diversification is critical to our
strategy as it provides stability to the
portfolio and allows us to nimbly respond

to business opportunities as they emerge
around the world.

OdysseyRe’s gross premiums written totaled
$2.8 billion in 2012, an increase of 15% over
the prior year, while net premiums earned
also grew by 15% to $2.3 billion. We saw
premium growth across our network with
notable increases in US insurance and in
property treaty. Territorially, we expanded
our premium writings in the US, Canada,
Brazil, China, Japan and Australia.

All of our reinsurance business is
underwritten through our flagship
company Odyssey Reinsurance Company,
headquartered in Stamford, Connecticut.
Odyssey Reinsurance Company writes

a global reinsurance portfolio of $1.8 billion
through a branch and representative office
network of 12 offices located in 9 countries
around the world. Our reinsurance results
were excellent in 2012 producing a global
combined ratio of 80.9%.



2012 Gross Premiums Written
$2.8 billion
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Alongside our reinsurance operations,

we underwrite an expanding portfolio

of specialty insurance through the Hudson
Insurance Group (Hudson) in the US and
the Newline Group (Newline) internationally.
In 2012, the global gross premiums written
generated by our insurance operations were
nearly $1 billion and the net combined ratio
was 107.8%. While results were adversely
affected by crop losses in the US and medical
malpractice claims in Europe, the underlying
fundamentals of our business remain sound.

As highlighted in prior reports, we have
been expanding our property writings and
this trend continued in 2012. Total property
premiums, both insurance and reinsurance,
accounted for 55% of gross premiums
written in 2012 compared to 47% in 2011.
Over the past four years, our global property
portfolio has grown 70%.

Our casualty portfolio represented 31%

of the global portfolio in 2012, down

from 37% in 2011, however the reduction
was more modest when you take into
consideration the growth in the overall
portfolio. A greater proportion of our
casualty portfolio is weighted to insurance
with roughly 66% of our total casualty
writings consisting of business underwritten

by Hudson and Newline. While casualty
pricing fundamentals remain challenging

in many of Newline’s international markets,
Hudson is achieving rate increases across
many US casualty segments. If these
favorable pricing trends continue, we
expect to write more casualty business
going forward not only in Hudson but also
in our US treaty and facultative units.

Business written in the US represented
57% of our global portfolio. In the insurance
segment, 77% of our portfolio was written
in the US, while 53% of the reinsurance
portfolio emanated from outside the US.

In the last few years, the US element of our
portfolio has increased in size as growth

in US insurance and US property treaty has
outpaced business expansion elsewhere.

It has been an exceptional year for
OdysseyRe, one in which underwriting
was the critical driver of our financial
success. While it is difficult to predict the
future as fortunes can turn on a dime in
(re)insurance, we feel confident about
our business prospects going forward.
Our portfolio is growing, our product
capabilities are expanding, our earnings
outlook is promising and our balance
sheet is stronger than ever.

I would like to thank our many clients and
partners from around the world for their
loyalty, trust and support. We strongly value
our business relationships and are firmly
committed to providing the quality service
that is essential to preserving them.

To our capital provider, Fairfax, and
especially to Prem Watsa and Andy Barnard,
thank you for your leadership and for
fostering an entrepreneurial culture that
has enabled OdysseyRe to flourish.

Finally to the 782 men and women who
serve this Company with dedication and
distinction, it is a privilege and an honor
to work with you. Congratulations to all
of you for a superb performance in 2012.

Brian D. Young
President & Chief Executive Officer
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The Americas Division

The Americas Division
encompasses our reinsurance
operations in North America,

led by Brian Quinn, and Latin
America, led by Philippe Mallier.
Throughout the Americas we
underwrite property and casualty
reinsurance, surety, marine,
aviation, and agricultural business
through a network of seven
offices in the US, Canada

and Latin America.

In 2012, the Division was responsible
for $1.1 billion of gross premiums, an
increase of 42.0% over 2011. In North
America gross premiums written were
$942.5 million and in Latin America gross
premiums written were $182.8 million.

In North America we underwrite treaty
reinsurance business from Stamford,
Toronto and Montreal, complemented
by our casualty facultative operations
based in New York City. In 2012, gross
premiums written in the US increased
by 43.0% as we continued to take
advantage of select property catastrophe
opportunities offering attractive original
rates and reinsurance terms. In casualty,
both treaty and facultative, the risk/
reward environment remained
challenging, but showed signs of slow
improvement. Surety volume stayed
flat, with slightly deteriorating but still
acceptable economics. The premium
volume of our Canadian operations
increased by 20.8% over 2011 due to
increased risk appetite, improved terms
and a broader, diversifying portfolio.

Our Latin American operations are based
out of Mexico City, Miami and Sdo Paulo.
We underwrite treaty business from
our Miami office and facultative and
agricultural business from Mexico City.
We continue to expand our presence in
Brazil through our representative office
in Sdo Paulo. Gross premiums written
increased 48.5% due to our expanding
presence in Brazil and growth in our
agricultural portfolio across the region.

The combined ratio for the Americas
Division was 87.6%, an improvement
of 4.3 points compared to 2011. Our
underwriting performance benefited
from a continued shift to higher margin
shorter tail classes and favorable prior
year development.

OdysseyRe underwriters
strive to not only compete,
but break away from

the pack by providing
unparalleled insight into
the challenges their
clients experience.



The Americas Division 2012 Gross Premiums Written

$1,125.3 million
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The EuroAsia Division




EuroAsia Division 2012 Gross Premiums Written

$585.9 million
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The London Market Division

The London Market Division, led
by Carl Overy, operates through
three underwriting platforms:
OdysseyRe’s London branch and
Newline Group comprised of
Newline Syndicate (1218) at Lloyd’s
and Newline Insurance Company
Limited. The three operations
are headquartered at the London
Underwriting Centre under

a common management team.

In 2012 gross premiums written declined
7.6% to $332.9 million, mostly due to
unfavorable foreign exchange rates and
competitive market conditions adversely
affecting the property retro and UK motor
accounts. The Division’s combined ratio
of 90.1% benefited from better than
expected catastrophe activity and
favorable prior year development.

Newline Syndicate at Lloyd’s is a leading
casualty insurance specialist with

a meaningful presence in the UK,
Continental Europe, Australia, Asia-Pacific
and Canada. Newline Syndicate also
operates a service company in Singapore
and a wholly-owned agency in Melbourne,
Australia to respond to the growing
demand for casualty insurance products
in the region.

Newline Insurance Company, a Financial
Services Authority licensed casualty
insurer, provides access to regional
distribution channels not available to the
Syndicate. Newline Insurance Company
is licensed to underwrite direct insurance
throughout the EC and facultative
reinsurance in other jurisdictions, from
both its London platform and its regional
office in Manchester, England.

The suite of products offered by Newline
on a direct and facultative basis includes:
public liability, employers liability, products
liability, commercial crime, bankers blanket
bond, professional liability, directors and
officers liability, medical malpractice,

UK motor and satellite.

OdysseyRe’s London branch underwrites
property, casualty, accident and health,
marine and aerospace treaty reinsurance.
All of OdysseyRe’s retrocessional
underwriting is centralized in London,
where OdysseyRe is a leading provider

of property catastrophe retro coverage.
While its portfolio is global in scope,
the branch’s primary mission is to serve
the reinsurance needs of clients based
in the London Market, including Lloyd’s.
The portfolio is catastrophe oriented and
predominantly written on an excess of loss
basis. While property, especially retro,
will remain a focal point of the portfolio,
we are increasingly looking to other lines
to drive business growth in the future.

Our strong and cohesive
team stays on course by
navigating market cycles
through disciplined
underwriting.



The London Market Division 2012 Gross Premiums Written

$332.9 million
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The US Insurance Division

The US Insurance Division, led
by Chris Gallagher, trades under
the banner Hudson Insurance
Group. Hudson is a specialty
insurer writing business on both
an admitted basis through Hudson
Insurance Company and a non-
admitted basis through Hudson
Specialty Insurance Company
and newly formed Hudson
Excess Insurance Company.

Hudson Insurance Group operates from
its headquarters in New York City as well
as nine additional offices throughout
the US and in Vancouver, Canada. We offer
a diverse range of property and casualty
insurance products to corporations,
professional firms and individuals through
retailers, wholesalers and program
administrators. Our structure and service
capabilities allow us to respond rapidly

to market opportunities irrespective

of the distribution channel.

In 2012, we wrote gross premiums of
$729.1 million, an increase of 10.4% over
2011. This increase was due to growth
across several lines of business, but most
notably in our crop, commercial property
and niche casualty sectors. This increase
was partially offset by reductions due to
competitive market conditions in medical
and non-medical professional liability.
The combined ratio for 2012 was 103.4%
compared to 101.2% for the prior year,
mainly due to two consecutive years

of drought conditions in Texas and the
Midwest, and property losses arising
from Superstorm Sandy.

The deep industry knowledge and vast
experience of our talented team of
professionals enable us to offer creative,
highly personalized service tailored

to meeting our clients’ and business
partners’ exact needs. Underwriting
teams are supported by dedicated
claims, actuarial and risk management
professionals with a focus on particular
products and industry segments. We
continue to invest heavily in technology
and staff to expand our in-house
underwriting platforms and we remain
a market of choice for high quality
program administrators focused

on specialty lines.

Nimble. Responsive.
Versatile. These
characteristics, combined
with our intimate
knowledge of the local
business landscape, mean
we’re always prepared

to change gears to meet
our clients’ exact needs.



2012 Gross Premiums Written
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Worldwide Offices

Odyssey Re Holdings Corp.

300 First Stamford Place
Stamford, CT 06902

Tel. (203) 977-8000

Odyssey Reinsurance
Company

STAMFORD

300 First Stamford Place
Stamford, CT 06902
Tel. (203) 977-8000

LONDON

The London Underwriting Centre
3 Minster Court, Suite 5/4
Mincing Lane

London EC3R 7DD

England

Tel. (44)020-7090-1800

MEXICO CITY

Insurgentes Sur No. 1605
17th Floor, Modulo Il
Col. San José Insurgentes
Mexico, D.F. 03900

Tel. (52) 55-5662-8660

MIAMI

1200 Brickell Avenue
Suite 1550
Miami, FL 33131

Tel. (305) 722-8401

MONTREAL

1 Place Ville Marie

Suite 2001

Montreal, Quebec H3B 2C4
Canada

Tel. (514) 488-6652

NEW YORK

100 William Street
5th Floor
New York, NY 10038

Tel. (212) 978-2700

PARIS

15, Rue Du 4 Septembre
75002 Paris
France

Tel. (33) 1-49-26-1000

SAO PAULO

Odyssey Reinsurance Company Escritério

de Representagdo no Brasil Ltda.
Av. das NagGes Unidas
12.399 - ¢j. 107-A
04578-000 - Sdo Paulo, SP
Brazil
Tel. (55) (11) 3512-6923

SINGAPORE

1 Finlayson Green
#17-00

Singapore 049246
Tel. (65) 6438-3806

STOCKHOLM
Norrlandsgatan 16
P.O. Box 1709

SE-111 87, Stockholm
Sweden

Tel. (46) 8-598-115-00

TOKYO

Kojimachi Parkside Building 501
7, Kojimachi 4-chome, Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 102-0083

Japan

Tel. (81) 3-3261-2570

TORONTO

55 University Avenue
Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5J 2H7
Canada

Tel. (416) 862-0162

Newline Group

LONDON

London Underwriting Centre
3 Minster Court, Suite 5/4
Mincing Lane

London EC3R 7DD

England

Tel. (44) 020-7090-1700

MANCHESTER

Office 6.5a - Lowry House
17 Marble Street
Manchester M2 3AW
England

Tel. (44) 0161-638-9350

MELBOURNE

Level 31, 570 Bourke Street
Melbourne, VIC 3000
Australia

Tel. (61) (03) 9999-1901

SINGAPORE

8 Marina View

Asia Square Tower 1
#15-01

Singapore 018960
Tel. (65) 6212-1290

Hudson Insurance Group

NEW YORK

100 William Street
5th Floor

New York, NY 10038
Tel. (212) 978-2800

AVON

Avon Park North

8C Canal Court
Avon, CT 06001
Tel. (203) 977-6400

CHICAGO

101 N. Wacker Drive
Suite 1950

Chicago, IL 60606
Tel. (312) 596-0222

CORONA

2280 Wardlow Circle
Suite 205

Corona, CA 92880
Tel. (951) 278-5648

FORT WASHINGTON

500 Office Center Drive
Suite 400

Fort Washington, PA 19034
Tel. (212) 978-2711

MINEOLA

176 Mineola Boulevard
2nd Floor

Mineola, NY 11501
Tel. (212) 384-0100

NAPA

851 Napa Valley Corporate Way
Suite N

Napa, CA 94558

Tel. (707) 225-3300

OVERLAND PARK

7300 West 110th Street
Suite 850

Overland Park, KS 66210
Tel. (866) 450-1445

SAN FRANCISCO

One Sansome Street
Suite 3500

San Francisco, CA 94104
Tel. (415) 946-8872

VANCOUVER
Commonwealth Specialty
595 Burrard Street

Suite 1500

P.0. Box 49115

Bentall Tower Three
Vancouver, BC V7X 1G4
Canada

Tel. (604) 683-5511
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Odyssey Re Holdings Corp.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. and
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 and December
31, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, shareholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years ended December 31, 2012.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the three years ended
December 31, 2012 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
March 8, 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 300 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10017
T: (646) 471 3000, F: (646) 471 8320, www.pwc.com/us



ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Investments and cash:

Fixed income securities, available for sale, at fair value (amortized cost $2,139,064 and

$3,005,623, respeCtiVely) .o
Fixed income securities, held for trading, at fair value (amortized cost

$1,770,449 and $805,137, reSPECLIVELY) ..ovvrviuieeiiieieieieieeeieeeeiee e

Preferred stocks, available for sale, at fair value (cost $54 and $54, respectively)

Preferred stocks, held for trading, at fair value (cost $240,138 and
$220,543, TS PECLIVELY)..vurvrierceieciieeiecireieeie e

Equity securities:

Common stocks, available for sale, at fair value (cost $815,322 and $720,950, respectively)

Common stocks, held for trading and fair value options, at fair value
(cost $501,013 and $255,215, reSPECctively) ..c.cvrveeeeeeereceneeeirireirieenes

Common StOCKS, @t EQUILY c..vuvereeeeeieeeiiieeceectee e

Short-term investments, held for trading, at fair value (amortized cost $1,499,462 and
$1,065,497, TESPECLIVELY ).uvuieiieiieie ettt

Cash and cash equIValents ........ccccoevriieieeniecee e
Cash and cash equivalents held as collateral ..........cccccevvriveunnnncccnnenes

December 31,

2012

2011

Other INVEStEd ASSELS .uvuruririirieieieirieeeieirir et esesee

Total investments and cash ...........ccccccereiinnnn.

Accrued investment income

Premiums receivable

Reinsurance recoverable on paid losses .....

(In thousands, except share
and per share amounts)

Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid losses
Prepaid reinSurance premiums .........ceeeeececeeeeeeeceeeeeeereenceenenns

Funds held by 1einSUIEds ........ccceeueiriicieieinniceieeceeeeeecieieieeeeeieieias

Deferred acquiSItion COSES ..c.ouiuriuniiinieirieirieiiieeeeeeeeeseieeeseeaenes

Federal and foreign income taxes receivable .........c.cccccueeeee.
Other assets .......coocveeinieicicicricricseciee

TOLAL ASSELS 1.vvveveretitieiiieies ettt ettt sttt et ettt ettt s s e e e s s et et esesesesese e et et et s ebebesesanesese e s st esesesesesesnnn

LIABILITIES
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses .........c........

Unearned PreMIUINS .......c.ccuriueurieerierieeeieeseeeeeeseseesceessesessessssessseesees

Reinsurance balances payable .........ccoovcvcivrncneee

Funds held under reiNSUraAnCe CONIIACES .....ieuriiiuiieieiiiieieteieeseeiesssstssie e ssssssse s st sess st sessssssesssssnsnsens

Debt 0bligations ........cceeeveieeeirericeeere e
Other HADIHEIES ....ccueveviicieieiriccicieiercctete ettt

Total HADILIES ......ocvevevervevereeceiecieeee et

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

NON-CONIONNG INTEIEST. ettt

Preferred shares, $0.01 par value; 1,200,000 shares authorized;

253,599 Series A shares issued and outstanding; 70,000 Series B shares issued and outstanding

Common shares, $10.00 par value; 60,000 shares authorized;

50,640 and 51,224 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital ........cccceverieirieinieecrce e

Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of deferred INCOME tAXES ....uvvveveiureeiririiecieieirieeirieeeieane

Retained armnings .......oceeueeecuciririniniieieieneeietse e

Total shareholders’ eqUILY ........ccceveverevuerereniererieerenieneienaens
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equUity .........cccoevvericinienicencens

2,632,665 $ 3,514,527
1,844,961 790,111
54 54
229,654 219,530
1,032,485 694,144
504,029 202,102
122,400 135,132
1,499,462 1,965,504
625,025 390,283
120,535 101,067
472,443 414,438
9,083,713 8,426,892
56,043 63,538
605,508 557,590
55,516 80,498
813,573 767,651
115,804 120,940
136,073 143,540
172,714 137,255
48,158 231,524
130,457 87,047
11217559 $  10,616475
563232 $ 5,517,600
834,385 739,484
217,353 163,083
4,648 28,963
448,963 446,046
401,122 385,855
7,538,793 7,281,031
29,299 29,299

3 3

507 513
404,550 417,647
497,118 381,270
2,747,289 2,506,712
3,678,766 3,335,444
11217559 $  10.616475

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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REVENUES

ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

GrOSS PIEMIUIMS WITEEEIL 1..vvevevveieierieieieiiesceetetessssessss st saessse et sess s s ssesesesesnnns
Ceded premiums WITEEETI .....c.cuevreccucueueiniriciceeieesiseeeietet ettt
Net Premitms WIIEEETL ..c.c.cueveuririceceeeeteeee ettt esesesesnene

(Increase) decrease in

net unearmned Premilms ..o..e.eeeeeeerereereeeseeeeseseeeeanes

Net premiums €AMNEd ...t eseees
Net INVESTMENT INCOIME ...vouvvieietieeeieeiiceeeeete ettt es e s ereaseseaeenes

Net realized investment gains (losses):
Net realized INVESTMENT GAINS ....cvvvveveieiiieieieeeeeeeee e eeees
Other-than-temporary impairment I0SSeSs .......c.cooveecueeuerniccieienneneneenes

Total net realized

Total revenues .......

EXPENSES

INVESTMENT ZAINS ..vveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeieieee et

Losses and loss adjustment €XPenses ......covvweeeeeeeerereeeeeineesseeseseeseeesesenens

Acquisition costs ......

Other underwriting eXPENSES ......ceueueururiireeeieeeirireeeereteeeeseeeseseeesseesseseseseseseens

Other expense, net .....
Interest expense .........

Loss on early extinguishment of debt...........cccceevnncinnnncccrcccene

Total expenses .......

Income (I0ss) before NCOME tAXES ...oveveveierrreeereiriieerieieieee e

Federal and foreign income tax provision (benefit):

Current ..
Deferred
Total federal and

Net income (loss)........

Preferred dividends

foreign income tax provision (benefit) ...........coceeee.e.

Loss on redemption of Series A and Series B preferred shares................
Gain on purchase of Series B preferred shares..........cococovvvvvrvnnccnninenes

NET INCOME (LOSS) AVAILABLE TO COMMON

SHAREHOLDERS

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
$ 2,773,218  $ 2,420,744  $ 2,167,338
370,873 331,019 313,540
2,402,345 2,089,725 1,853,798
(87,069) (75,020) 31,916
2,315,276 2,014,705 1,885,714
162,168 284,161 327,875
239,623 261,553 190,657
(174,877) (195,781) (20,308)
64,746 65,772 170,349
2,542,190 2,364,638 2,383,938
1,414,467 1,812,342 1,317,053
439,755 350,666 347,120
198,574 190,866 194,328
3,531 62,734 63,591
27,689 28,924 30,464
- 6,121 -
2,084,016 2,451,653 1,952,556
458,174 (87,015) 431,382
82,615 84,941 115,235
93,046 (105,993) (17,128)
175,661 (21,052) 98,107
282,513 (65,963) 333,275
(2,191) (1,786) (3,966)
- - (2,183)
- - 5
$ 280,322 $ (67,749) $ 327,131

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NEt INCOME (IOSS) cvuvvviiiiiiriieieieieieie ettt s s s s sens

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), BEFORE TAX
Unrealized net appreciation on securities arising during the period ...................
Reclassification adjustment for realized investment

(gains) included in net INCOME (I0SS) ..eeueeuiueueueirieiriie e
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Benefit plan Habilities ..........ocooeirieriueieirieeiee e

Other comprehensive income (I0ss), before tax .......ccoeereereceirreeerccnnes

TAX (PROVISION) BENEFIT
Unrealized net appreciation on securities arising during the period ...................
Reclassification adjustment for realized investment

gains included in net iNCOME (10SS) ...cuveueuririririniecceeee e
Foreign currency translation adjustments ...........ccccceevivieiiiieeeeieeeeesseeees
Benefit plan Habilities ..........ccooeieiireieeiieieeiee e

Total tax (ProvisSion) DENETt .....ccovueveirririiiceeeeiee e
Other comprehensive income (10Ss), net 0 taX ....occeveveeieieeieriieicceeenen
CompreNeNSIVE MCOMIC ...ttt

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
282513 $  (65963) $ 333275
437,886 316,153 101,155

(221,759) (218,435) (436,312)
(22,257) 25,122 79,100
(15,720) (8,425) 727
178,150 114,415 (255,330)

(153,210) (110,814) (23,424)

77,616 76,452 152,709
7,790 (8,794) (27,685)
5,502 2,948 (254)

(62,302) (40,208) 101,346
115,848 74,207 (153,984)
398361  $ 8244 $ 179291




ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Years Ended December 31,

Balance, beginning of year
Clearwater ownership of preferred shares of subsidiaries

Balance, end of year
PREFERRED SHARES (par value)

Balance, beginning of year
Series A and Series B preferred shares redemption

Series B preferred shares purchased
Balance, end of year

COMMON SHARES (par value)
Balance, beginning of year

Common shares capital redemptions - Clearwater trans fer.
Common shares capital contributions

Common shares capital redemptions
Balance, end of year

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL
Balance, beginning of year

Common shares capital redemptions - Clearwater transfer.

Capital contribution

Common shares capital redemptions

Series A and Series B preferred shares redemption

Series B preferred shares purchased

Net change due to stock option exercises and restricted share awards

Balance, end of year

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
NET OF DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
Balance, beginning of year

Clearwater transfer - unrealized appreciation of securities

Clearwater - foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrealized net appreciation (depreciation) on securities, net of reclassification adjustments

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Benefit plan liabilities

Balance, end of year

RETAINED EARNINGS
Balance, beginning of year

Clearwater transfer.

Net income (loss)

Loss on redemption of Series A and Series B preferred shares

Gain on purchase of Series B preferred shares

Capital redemptions

Dividends to preferred shareholders

Balance, end of year

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING

Balance, beginning of year
Reverse share split of 1 share per 1,000 shares of common stock

Repurchased and retired
Shares issued

Balance, end of year

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except share amounts)

29,299 $ - $ -

- 29,299 -

29,299 29,299 -
3 3 32
- - (28)
- - (0]

3 3 3

513 567 567

- (59) -

1 5 -

(N - -

507 513 567
417,647 456,049 515,066
- (46,877) -

4,787 13,673 20,506
(5,248) - -
- - (68,437)
- - (822)
(12,636) (5,198) (10,264)
404,550 417,647 456,049
381,270 391,485 545,469
- (83,705) -

- (717) -
140,533 63,356 (205,872)
(14,467) 16,328 51,415
(10,218) (5,477) 473
497,118 381,270 391,485
2,506,712 2,820,929 2,493,798
- (246,468) -
282,513 (65,963) 333,275
- - (2,183)

- - 5
(39,745) - -
(2,191) (1,786) (3,966)
2,747,289 2,506,712 2,820,929
3,678,766 S 3335444 $ 3,669,033
51,224 56,605 56,604,650
- - (56,548,045)

(656) (5,921) -

7 540 -
50,640 51,224 56,605

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INEE INCOME (JOSS) vttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et s ettt ettt et et es e e st ebeeae st e b eseeseeneebe et e eseeneeneeneeseeneas

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Decrease (increase) in premiums receivable and funds held, net
Increase (decrease) in unearned premiums and prepaid reinsurance premiums, net ..
Increase in unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, Net ..........cc.eceeverennne
Increase in current and deferred federal and foreign income taxes, net .
(Increase) decrease in deferred acquisition COStS ...........cccceeunes
Change in other assets and liabilities, net
Net realized investment gains
Loss on early extinguishment of debt...
Bond discount amortization, net
Amortization of compensation plans ...

Net cash provided by 0perating aCtiVities ..........cccivrveirieeieieiirieiieeeeeeteeeet e

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Maturities of fixed income securities, available for sale ...
Sales of fixed income securities, available for sale ........
Purchases of fixed income securities, available for sale
Sales of equity SECUITHES .....eveveeeririirierierierieeeeeeeieiee
Purchases of equity SECUTIEIES .....cueueveueiirieiiririeiiriecieeeeetce e
Net settlements of other invested assets
Purchases of other invested assets
Net change in cash and cash equivalents held as collateral
Sales of trading securities ...
Purchases of trading securities
Net change in short-term investments, available for sale
Net purchases of fixed assets
Acquisition of net assets of a business.
Net cash used in investing activities ...

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Redemption of Series A and Series B preferred shares
Capital contribution
Capital redemption,
Purchase of restricted shares
Dividends paid to preferred shareholders
Debt modification costs............ccccccevernnene
Purchase of Series B preferred shares
Early extinguishment of debt obligations.............cccevveueiviienniciriicieicennne
Repurchase of common shares through transfer of ownership of subsidiary
Proceeds under revolving line of credit agreement..

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ...........c.coceoereiiiiniiinineneeeeeee

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash eqUIVAIENES ........c.c.eoiviiiiiiiiiiiccieicceece e

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning Of YEAr ..........coccciviriiiriiiiiniiicecreceec e
Cash and cash equivalents, end Of YEAT ........cciiiiiiriiiiieie e

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid ...

Non-cash activity (see Note 1):
Repurchase of common shares through transfer of ownership of subsidiary...........cccccecevvvicricnnnnene

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

282,513 § (65,963) $ 333,275
16,368 (188,999) 32,325
92,468 73,067 (16,945)

8,569 455,297 264,795

121,048 (59,142) (85,745)

(35,610) (18,793) 6,412

(59,446) 125,015 (96,863)

(64,746) (65,772) (170,349)

- 6,121 -

(12,377) (40,689) (21,041)

6,155 5,543 24,649
354,942 225,685 270,513
21,597 11,254 13,983
1,171,826 1,799,224 2,061,693
(32,184) (635,012) (2,385,615)
249,360 654,588 1,057,905
(349,277) (56,129) (231,653)
(31,924) 303,816 (210,846)
(311,249) (182,000) (451,019)
(15,330) (72,115) 25,645
4,621,697 1,903,791 814,793
(5,386,222) (4,472,058) (757,807)
- - 43,079

(14,961) (8,909) (6,883)
(4,000) - -

(80,667) (753,550) (26,725)

- - (70,648)
4,788 13,679 20,506

(45,000) - -

(17,693) (10,806) (13,168)
(2,191) (1,786) (5,096)

- - (2,735)
- - (816)
- (47,849) -
- (80,953) -
2,164 - -

(57,932) (127,715) (71,957)
18,399 (12,171) (55,241)

234,742 (667,751) 116,590

390,283 1,058,034 941,444

625,025 S 390,283 § 1,058,034
26,522 $ 28,188  § 29,527
55358  § 51,299 § 179,482

-3 (267,574) $ -




ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

Odyssey Re Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “OdysseyRe”),
is an underwriter of reinsurance, providing a full range of property and casualty products on a worldwide basis, and an
underwriter of specialty insurance, primarily in the United States and through the Lloyd’s of London marketplace. Odyssey
Re Holdings Corp. owns all of the common shares of Odyssey Reinsurance Company (“ORC”), its principal operating
subsidiary, which is domiciled in the state of Connecticut. ORC directly or indirectly owns all of the common shares of the
following subsidiaries: Hudson Insurance Company (“Hudson”); Hudson Specialty Insurance Company (“Hudson
Specialty”); Hudson Excess Insurance Company (“Hudson Excess”); Newline Holdings U.K. Limited, Newline
Underwriting Management Limited, which manages Newline Syndicate (1218), a member of Lloyd’s of London, Newline
Insurance Company Limited (“NICL”), Newline Corporate Name Limited (“NCNL”), which provides capital for and
receives the distributed earnings from Newline Syndicate (1218) (collectively, “Newline”); Clearwater Select Insurance
Company (“Clearwater Select”); and Napa River Insurance Services, Inc. Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited (“Fairfax”),
a publicly traded financial services holding company based in Canada, ultimately owns 100% of the common shares of
OdysseyRe, through Fairfax’s United States intermediate holding company, Fairfax (US) Inc., (“Fairfax (US)”), and
Fairfax (US)’s subsidiaries.

On January 1, 2011, with the approval of the Departments of Insurance of the states of Connecticut and Delaware, the
regulatory authorities for ORC and Clearwater Insurance Company (“Clearwater”), respectively, the Company transferred
ownership of Clearwater to TIG Insurance Group, Inc. (“TIG”), which is a Fairfax subsidiary and a shareholder of the
Company, in exchange for 5,921 common shares of the Company held by TIG. Prior to the transaction, Clearwater
distributed to ORC, by means of a dividend, its then ownership interest in the common stock of Hudson and Clearwater
Select. ORC then distributed all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Clearwater to the Company, by
means of a dividend with a value of $0.38 billion. The transaction was reflected by the Company as a nonreciprocal
transfer between the Company and TIG, whereby the total assets of $1.12 billion and total liabilities of $0.77 billion of
Clearwater were removed from the consolidated balance sheet of the Company effective January 1, 2011, offset by a
reduction in the Company’s shareholders’ equity of $0.35 billion. There was no gain or loss recognized as a result of the
transfer of ownership of Clearwater. The number of common shares re-acquired by the Company from TIG, which were
subsequently retired, was based upon the estimated fair values of Clearwater and OdysseyRe as of September 30, 2010,
which had not changed appreciably as of December 31, 2010. The balance sheet of Clearwater that was transferred to TIG
as of January 1, 2011 included preferred shares of Hudson and Clearwater Select with an aggregate value of $29.3 million
(see Note 18).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles general accepted in the United States of America, (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make
estimates and assumptions, which could differ materially from actual results that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The Company considers its accounting
policies that are most dependent on the application of estimates and assumptions, as critical accounting estimates, which are
defined as estimates that are both important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations,
and require the Company to exercise significant judgment. These estimates, by necessity, are based on assumptions about
numerous factors. Certain amounts from prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

The Company reviews its critical accounting estimates and assumptions on a quarterly basis. These reviews include
the estimate of reinsurance premiums and premium related amounts, establishing deferred acquisition costs, goodwill and
intangible impairment evaluations, an evaluation of the adequacy of reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, review of its reinsurance and retrocession agreements, estimates related to income taxes, including an analysis of
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ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

the recoverability of deferred income tax assets and an evaluation of its investment portfolio, including a review for other-
than-temporary declines in estimated fair value.

(b) Investments. The majority of the Company’s investments in fixed income securities and common stocks are
categorized as “available for sale” or “held for trading” and are recorded at their estimated fair value based on quoted
market prices (see Note 3). Most investments in common stocks of affiliates are carried at the Company’s proportionate
share of the equity of those affiliates. Short-term investments, which are classified as “held for trading” and which have a
maturity of one year or less from the date of purchase, are carried at fair value. The Company considers all highly liquid
debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents
include certificates of deposits totaling $61.0 million and $7.4 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Investments in limited partnerships and investment funds have been reported in other invested assets. Other invested assets
also include trust accounts relating to the Company’s benefit plans, and derivative securities, all of which are carried at fair
value. The Company routinely evaluates the carrying value of its investments in common stocks of affiliates and in
partnerships and investment funds. In the case of limited partnerships and investment funds, the carrying value is generally
established on the basis of the net valuation criteria as determined by the managers of the investments. Such valuations
could differ significantly from the values that would have been available had markets existed for the securities. Investment
transactions are recorded on their trade date, with balances pending settlement reflected in the consolidated balance sheets
as a component of other assets or other liabilities.

Investment income, which is reported net of applicable investment expenses, is recorded as earned. Realized
investment gains or losses are determined on the basis of average cost. The Company records, in investment income, its
proportionate share of income or loss, including realized gains or losses, for those securities for which the equity method of
accounting is utilized, which include most common stocks of affiliates, limited partnerships and investment funds. Due to
the timing of when financial information is reported by equity investees and received by the Company, including limited
partnerships and investment funds, results attributable to these investments are generally reported by the Company on a one
month or one quarter lag. Unrealized appreciation and depreciation related to trading securities is recorded as realized
investment gains or losses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The net amount of unrealized appreciation or depreciation on the Company’s available for sale investments, net of
applicable deferred income taxes, is reflected in shareholders’ equity in accumulated other comprehensive income. A
decline in the fair value of an available for sale investment below its cost or amortized cost that is deemed other-than-
temporary is recorded as a realized investment loss in the consolidated statements of operations, resulting in a new cost or
amortized cost basis for the investment. Other-than-temporary declines in the carrying values of investments recorded in
accordance with the equity method of accounting are recorded in net investment income in the consolidated statements of
operations.

(c) Premium Revenue Recognition. Reinsurance assumed premiums written and related costs are based upon reports
received from ceding companies. Where reinsurance assumed premiums written have not been reported by the ceding
company, they are estimated, at the individual contract level, based on historical patterns and experience from the ceding
company and judgments of the Company. Subsequent adjustments to premiums written, based on actual results or revised
estimates from the ceding company, are recorded in the period in which they become known. Reinsurance assumed
premiums written related to proportional treaty business are established on a basis that is consistent with the coverage
periods under the terms of the underlying insurance contracts. Reinsurance assumed premiums written related to excess of
loss and facultative reinsurance business are recorded over the coverage term of the contracts, which is generally one year.
Unearned premium reserves are established for the portion of reinsurance assumed premiums written that are to be
recognized over the remaining contract period. Unearned premium reserves related to proportional treaty contracts are
computed based on reports received from ceding companies, which show premiums written but not yet earned. Premium
adjustments made over the life of the contract are recognized as earned premiums based on the applicable contract period to
which they apply. Insurance premiums are earned on a pro rata basis over the policy period, which is generally one year. A
reserve for uncollectible premiums is established when deemed necessary. The Company has also established a reserve for
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ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

potentially uncollectible premium receivable balances of $5.8 million and $11.2 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, which has been netted against premiums receivable.

The cost of reinsurance purchased by the Company (reinsurance premiums ceded) is reported as prepaid reinsurance
premiums and amortized over the contract period in proportion to the amount of reinsurance protection provided. The
ultimate amount of premiums, including adjustments, is recognized as premiums ceded, and amortized over the applicable
contract period to which they apply. Reserves are established for the unexpired portion of premiums ceded and are recorded
as an asset in prepaid reinsurance premiums. Premiums earned are reported net of reinsurance ceded premiums earned in
the consolidated statements of operations. Amounts paid by the Company for retroactive reinsurance that meets the
conditions for reinsurance accounting are reported as reinsurance receivables to the extent those amounts do not exceed the
associated liabilities. If the liabilities exceed the amounts paid, reinsurance receivables are increased to reflect the
difference, and the resulting gain is deferred and amortized over the estimated settlement period. If the amounts paid for
retroactive reinsurance exceed the liabilities, the Company will increase the related liabilities or reduce the reinsurance
receivable, or both, at the time the reinsurance contract is effective, and the excess is charged to net income. Changes in the
estimated amount of liabilities relating to the underlying reinsured contracts are recognized in net income in the period of
the change.

Assumed and ceded reinstatement premiums represent additional premiums related to reinsurance coverages,
principally catastrophe excess of loss contracts, which are paid when the incurred loss limits have been utilized under the
reinsurance contract and such limits are reinstated. Premiums written and earned premiums related to a loss event are
estimated and accrued as earned. The accrual is adjusted based upon any change to the ultimate losses incurred under the
contract.

(d) Deferred Acquisition Costs. Acquisition costs, which are reported net of acquisition costs ceded, consist of
commissions and brokerage expenses incurred on insurance and reinsurance business written, and premium taxes on direct
insurance written, and are deferred and amortized over the period in which the related premiums are earned, which is
generally one year. Commission adjustments are accrued based on changes in premiums and losses recorded by the
Company in the period in which they become known. Deferred acquisition costs are limited to their estimated realizable
value based on the related unearned premium, which considers anticipated losses and loss adjustment expenses and
estimated remaining costs of servicing the business, all based on historical experience. The realizable value of the
Company’s deferred acquisition costs is determined without consideration of investment income.

Included in acquisition costs in the consolidated statements of operations are amortized deferred acquisition costs of
$436.5 million, $344.4 million and $344.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

(e) Goodwill and Intangible Assets. The Company accounts for goodwill and intangible assets as permitted or
required by GAAP. A purchase price paid that is in excess of net assets arising from a business combination is recorded as
an asset (“goodwill”) and is not amortized. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over the estimated useful life of
the asset. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Goodwill and intangible assets are analyzed for
impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. If the goodwill or intangible asset is impaired, it is written down to its realizable value with a
corresponding expense reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company has determined that its
goodwill and intangible assets were not impaired as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table reflects the carrying amount of goodwill, intangible assets with an indefinite life and intangible
assets with a finite life as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Intangible Assets

Indefinite Finite
Goodwill Life Life Total

Balance, January 1, 2011 ....c.ccocooviviiiiiiiicieeceeee $ 36,734  $ 5813  $ 6,451 $ 48,998

Amortization during 2011 - - (1,858) (1,858)
Balance, December 31, 2011 36,734 5,813 4,593 47,140

Acquired during 2012........cccooeiinieieeeeceee e - - 8,529 8,529

Amortization during 2012 - - (2,835) (2,835)
Balance, December 31, 2012.......ocooviiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee $ 36,734  $ 5813 $ 10,287  $ 52,834

The Company amortized $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 related to its intangible assets with a
finite life. The Company did not incur any impairment of its goodwill or intangible assets during 2012, 2011 or 2010.

The following table provides the estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets for the succeeding five
years (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Amortization of intangible assets ........cccoceeveeerieiieriereneeeenn $ 3,017 $ 2165 $ 2049 § 2004 $ 828

(f) Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. The reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses are estimates
of amounts needed to pay reported and unreported claims and related loss adjustment expenses. The estimates are based on
assumptions related to the ultimate cost to settle such claims. The inherent uncertainties of estimating reserves are greater
for reinsurers than for primary insurers, due to the diversity of development patterns among different types of reinsurance
contracts and the necessary reliance on ceding companies for information regarding reported claims. As a result, there can
be no assurance that the ultimate liability will not exceed amounts reserved, with a resulting adverse effect on the
Company.

The reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are based on the Company’s evaluations of reported
claims and individual case estimates received from ceding companies for reinsurance business or the estimates advised by
the Company’s claims adjusters for insurance business. The Company utilizes generally accepted actuarial methodologies
to determine reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses on the basis of historical experience and other estimates. The
reserves are reviewed continually during the year and changes in estimates in losses and loss adjustment expenses are
reflected as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations in the period the adjustment is made. Reinsurance
recoverables on unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses are reported as assets. A reserve for uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables is established based on an evaluation of each reinsurer or retrocessionaire and historical experience. The
Company uses tabular reserving for workers’ compensation indemnity loss reserves, which are considered to be fixed and
determinable, and discounts such reserves using an interest rate of 3.5%. Workers’ compensation indemnity loss reserves
have been discounted using the Life Table for Total Population: United States, 2004.

(g) Deposit Assets and Liabilities. The Company may enter into assumed and ceded reinsurance contracts that
contain certain loss limiting provisions and, as a result, do not meet the risk transfer provisions of GAAP accounting
standards. These contracts are accounted for using the deposit accounting method in accordance with GAAP. Under the
deposit method of accounting, revenues and expenses from reinsurance contracts are not recognized as written premium
and incurred losses. Instead, the profits or losses from these contracts are recognized net, as other income or expense over
the contract or contractual settlement periods. In accordance with this accounting standard, these contracts are deemed as
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either transferring only significant timing risk or only significant underwriting risk or transferring neither significant timing
nor underwriting risk.

For such contracts, the Company initially records the amount of consideration paid as a deposit asset or received as a
deposit liability. Revenue or expense is recognized over the term of the contract, with any deferred amount recorded as a
component of assets or liabilities until such time it is earned. The ultimate asset or liability under these contracts is
estimated, and the asset or liability initially established, which represents consideration received, is increased or decreased
over the term of the contract. The change during the period is recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations, with increases and decreases in the ultimate asset or liability shown in other expense, net. As of December 31,
2012 and 2011, the Company had reflected $8.1 million in other assets at both dates, and in other liabilities $1.8 million
and $1.9 million, respectively, related to deposit contracts. In cases where cedants retain the consideration on a funds held
basis, the Company records those assets in other assets, and records the related investment income on the assets in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations as investment income.

(h) Income Taxes. The Company records deferred income taxes to provide for the net tax effect of temporary
differences between the carrying values of assets and liabilities in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and
their tax bases. Such differences relate principally to deferred acquisition costs, unearned premiums, unpaid losses and
loss adjustment expenses, investments and tax credits. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when the
Company believes it is more likely than not that all or a portion of deferred taxes will not be realized. As of December 31,
2012 and 2011, a valuation allowance was not required.

The Company has elected to recognize accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as part of
the income tax provision. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company has not recorded any interest or penalties.

(1) Derivatives. The Company utilizes derivative instruments to manage against potential adverse changes in the
value of its assets and liabilities. Derivatives include credit default swaps, call options and warrants, total return swaps,
interest rate swaps, forward currency contracts, CPI-linked derivative contracts and other equity and credit derivatives. In
addition, the Company holds options on certain securities within its fixed income portfolio, which allows the Company to
extend the maturity date on fixed income securities or convert fixed income securities to equity securities. The Company
categorizes these investments as trading securities, and changes in fair value are recorded as realized investment gains or
losses in the consolidated statements of operations. All derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities
on the consolidated balance sheet and are measured at their fair value. Gains or losses from changes in the derivative values
are reported based on how the derivative is used and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. As the Company’s
derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair value are included in realized investment gains
and losses in the consolidated statements of operations. Margin balances required by counterparties in support of derivative
positions are included in fixed income securities and short-term investments.

(j) Operating Segments. The Company has four operating segments that reflect the manner in which management
monitors and evaluates the Company’s financial performance: Americas, EuroAsia, London Market and U.S. Insurance
(see Note 11).

(k) Foreign Currency. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses resulting from a change in exchange rates
between the currency in which a transaction is denominated, or the original currency, and the functional currency are
reflected in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they occur. The Company translates the
financial statements of its foreign subsidiaries and branches that have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar into
U.S. dollars by translating balance sheet accounts at the balance sheet date exchange rate and income statement accounts at
the rate at which the transaction occurs or the average exchange rate for each quarter. Translation gains or losses are
recorded, net of deferred income taxes, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.
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The following table presents the foreign exchange effect, net of tax, on certain line items in the Company’s financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Statement of operations:
Net investment (I0SS) INCOME........cevvreivereiieeiereiieie e $ ©47) S 1,022 $ (442)
Net realized iINVEStMENt IOSSES ..cvovevevevevereiereieieieieietete ettt (19,850) (2,868) (78,877)
Other INCOME (EXPENSE), ML ..uuiuiuiuiuieeniieieeeeee et 14,949 (47,737) (30,208)
LoSS Defore INCOME tAXES ..cvovivieiereeiiieriiiieieeeeeeee ettt sebeneas (5,548) (49,583) (109,527)
Total federal and foreign income tax benefit .........cccceeeeeeeeeieceecceenen (1,942) (17,357) (38,334)
INEE JOSS ouiuiiiicieteiceie ettt ss et eneen (3,606) (32,226) (71,193)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net 0f taX ......ccceeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeieennens (14,467) 16,328 51,415
Total effect on comprehensive income and
Shareholders' EQUILY .......ccccvivcuiiiniieiiieece e $ (18,073) $ (15,898) ' $ (19,778)

() Stock-Based Compensation Plans. The Company accounts for awards to employees in the common stock of
Fairfax in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718, “Share-Based Payment.” In 2009, the
Company established the Restricted Share and Equity Value Plan (the “REVR”). Under the terms of the REVR Plan, each
restricted equity value right (“REVRs”) has a value (the “REVR Value”) equal to the total sharcholders’ equity of the
Company attributable to the common equity as of the last day of the most recently completed quarter of the Company for
which Fairfax has publicly released its earnings report, or in the event that Fairfax does not intend to publicly release an
earnings report, for which financial statements that report the Company’s book value are available, as adjusted for
dividends, capital contributions or other extraordinary events (in each case, as determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company or the Compensation Committee thereof, in its sole discretion), divided by 58,443,149 (which was the number of
the Company’s common shares outstanding as of the establishment of the REVR Plan). Upon vesting of a REVR,
participants receive a single sum cash payment equal to the REVR Value as of the applicable vesting date, less any
applicable withholding of taxes. The Company accounts for the REVR Plan as a liability plan in accordance with ASC 718.

(m) Payments. Payments of claims by the Company, as reinsurer, to a broker on behalf of a reinsured company are
recorded on the Company’s books as a paid loss at the time the cash is disbursed. The payment is treated as a paid claim to
the reinsured. Premiums due to the Company from the reinsured are recorded as receivables from the reinsured until the
cash is received by the Company, either directly from the reinsured or from the broker.

(n) Funds Held Balances. Funds held under reinsurance contracts is an account used to record a liability, in
accordance with the contractual terms, arising from the Company’s receipt of a deposit from a reinsurer or the withholding
of a portion of the premiums due, as a guarantee that a reinsurer will meet its loss and other obligations. Interest generally
accrues on withheld funds in accordance with contract terms. Funds held by reinsured is an account used to record an asset
resulting from the ceding company, in accordance with the contractual terms, withholding a portion of the premium due the
Company as a guarantee that the Company will meet its loss and other obligations.

(0) Fixed Assets. Fixed assets, with a net book value of $25.9 million and $17.7 million as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively, are included in other assets. Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and
amortization are generally computed on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Leasehold IMPrOVEMENLS ..........ccveeierieiiiiieeie ettt beebeeseeneas 10 years or term of lease, if shorter
Electronic data processing equipment and furniture .............ccoceeeeeieeneenieneeneene 5 years
Personal computers and SOftWAre ..........cccocieiiiiiiieiieieeeee e 3 years

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $6.7 million,
$5.4 million and $4.6 million, respectively.
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(p) Contingent Liabilities. Amounts are accrued for the resolution of claims that have either been asserted or are
deemed probable of assertion if, in the opinion of the Company, it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. In many cases, it is not possible to determine whether a liability has
been incurred or to estimate the ultimate or minimum amount of that liability until years after the contingency arises, in
which case, no accrual is made until that time. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, no contingent liabilities
have been recorded (see Note 13).

3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company accounts for a significant portion of its financial instruments at fair value as permitted or required by
GAAP.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are measured and classified in a
three level hierarchy for disclosure purposes based on the observability of inputs available in the marketplace used to
measure fair values. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). When the inputs used to measure fair
value fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the level within which the fair value measurement is categorized is based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Gains and losses for assets and
liabilities categorized within the Level 3 table below, therefore, may include changes in fair value that are attributable to
both observable inputs (Levels 1 and 2) and unobservable inputs (Level 3). Financial assets and liabilities recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: Level 1 financial instruments are financial assets and liabilities for which the values are based on unadjusted
quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market that the Company has the ability to access. Market price
data generally is obtained from exchange markets. The Company does not adjust the quoted price for such instruments.
The majority of the Company’s Level 1 investments are common stocks that are actively traded in a public market and
short-term investments and cash equivalents, for which the cost basis approximates fair value.

Level 2: Level 2 financial instruments are financial assets and liabilities for which the values are based on quoted
prices in markets that are not active, or model inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full
term of the asset or liability. Level 2 inputs include the following:

a) Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
b) Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in non-active markets;
¢) Pricing models, the inputs for which are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and

d) Pricing models, the inputs for which are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data
through correlation or other means, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and classified as Level 2 include government,
corporate and municipal fixed income securities, which are priced using publicly traded over-the-counter prices and broker-
dealer quotes. Observable inputs such as benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads and bids
are available for these investments. For determining the fair value of credit default swaps, which are classified as Level 2,
the Company utilizes broker-dealer quotes that include observable credit spreads. For determining the fair value of
warrants, which are also classified as Level 2, the Company utilizes broker-dealer quotes. Also included in Level 2 are
inactively traded convertible corporate debentures that are valued using a pricing model that includes observable inputs
such as credit spreads and discount rates in the calculation.
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Level 3: Level 3 financial instruments are financial assets and liabilities for which the values are based on prices or
valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.
These measurements include circumstances in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. In
certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases,
the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls is determined based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Therefore, these inputs reflect the
Company’s own assumptions about the methodology and valuation techniques that a market participant would use in
pricing the asset or liability.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, no securities were transferred into or out of
Level 3.

The Company uses valuation techniques to establish the fair value of Level 3 investments. During the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company purchased $251.1 million and $126.0 million, respectively, of investments that
are classified as Level 3. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, the Company held $273.5 million and $208.2
million of investments that are classified as Level 3. The Company has included in Level 3 investments an unsecured loan
and debt obligations from/to Fairfax (US) Inc., a subsidiary of Fairfax, which are reflected in debt obligations as of
December 31, 2012 and other invested assets as of December 31, 2011, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheet.
The unsecured loan is valued based on the callable value of the loan. Level 3 investments also included certain limited
partnerships, also classified as other invested assets on the consolidated balance sheets based on the net asset values
received from the general partners. Generally, these limited partnerships invest in securities that trade in active markets,
and as a result, their net asset values reflect their fair values. The Company classifies such investments as Level 3 within
the fair value hierarchy when the Company is required to provide the general partner with more than three months notice
prior to liquidation or redemption of the partnership interest. Level 3 investments also include CPI-linked derivative
contracts, certain preferred and common stocks, and a private placement bond.

A review of fair value hierarchy classifications is conducted on a quarterly basis. Changes in the observability of
valuation inputs may result in a reclassification for certain financial assets or liabilities. Reclassifications impacting Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy are generally reported as transfers in or out of the Level 3 category as of the beginning of the
period in which the reclassifications occur. The Company has determined, after carefully considering the impact of recent
economic conditions and liquidity in the credit markets on the Company’s portfolio, that it should not re-classify any of its
investments from Level 1 or Level 2 to Level 3 in 2012. There were no transfers of securities between Level 1 and Level 2
in 2012 or 2011.

The Company is responsible for determining the fair value of its investment portfolio by utilizing market driven fair
value measurements obtained from active markets where available, by considering other observable and unobservable
inputs and by employing valuation techniques that make use of current market data. For the majority of the Company’s
investment portfolio, the Company uses quoted prices and other information from independent pricing sources to determine
fair values.
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The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Fixed income securities, available for sale:

United States government, government agencies

and authorities ..........ccocveveeeeeecnnnnenn...

States, municipalities and political subdivisions .....

Foreign gOVernments .........ccocccooeeevueerieeneeeneeecneennne
COTPOTALE «oeeeiiiiiieee ettt

Total fixed income securities,

available forsale ...........cccccooiiiiiiiiiiiii,

Fixed income securities, held for trading securities:

United States government, government agencies

and authorities ..........cccceeveeeeeccnnnneen...

States, municipalities and political subdivisions .....

Foreign governments .........cccoccueeerueeeeecieeesnneeeeeneenn
COTPOTALE oo

Total fixed income securities, held for

trading SECUTILICS ...eevvveeerieieeeniiieeeiiee e

Redeemable preferred stock, available for sale ........

Convertible preferred stocks,

held for trading SECUrities ...........cccovvieeeeeenniiiiieeennn.

Common stocks, available for sale
Common stocks, held for trading and

fair value OptionsS........coooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e

Short-term investments,

held for trading SECUTItIes .........ccvvveeieriieirniieeaieen.
Cash equivalents ..........occceeeriiieeniiee e
DErivatives ....ccc.eeeeriiiiniiieeriee e

Other INVEStMENTS ........ouvveeeennnnnnnnnnnnnnnn.

Total assets measured at fair value ......................

Derivative liabilities .................coccccL
Debt obligations.........ceevviieeriiiie e

Total liabilities measured at fair value

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2011

Assets / Liabilities Quoted Prices in Significant
Measured at Active Markets Other Significant
Fair Value for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets / Liabilities Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
239,585 - 239,585 $ -
2,171,707 - 2,171,707 -
13,474 - 13,474 -
207,899 13,202 194,697 -
2,632,665 13,202 2,619,463 -
367,572 - 367,572 -
827,938 - 827,938 -
423911 - 423911 -
225,540 - 207,402 18,138
1,844,961 - 1,826,823 18,138
54 - 54 -
229,654 - 213,805 15,849
1,032,485 1,024,577 7,908 -
504,029 279,243 194,521 30,265
1,499,462 1,455,517 43,945 -
379,939 376,226 3,713 -
70,407 - 23,553 46,854
175,299 - 10,758 164,541
8,368,955 3,148,765 4,944,543 $ 275,647
88,184 - 88,184 $ -
2,164 - - 2,164
90,348 - 88,184 $ 2,164
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Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2011

Assets / Liabilities Quoted Prices in Significant
Measured at Active Markets Other Significant
Fair Value for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets / Liabilities Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Fixed income securities, available for sale:

United States government, government agencies

AN AULHOTIEIES ..ot $ 468,811 $ - $ 468,811 $ -
States, municipalities and political subdivisions ........... 2,491,914 - 2,491,914 -
Foreign gOVernments ............ccoceeeeevenieeneenieneeneeneneenens 352,165 - 352,165 -
COTPOTALE ..vveveirenieieeeeesieeteeee et eseeereentesseeseeseeaeeneenees 201,637 25,252 176,385 -

Total fixed income securities,
available for sale ..........ccooviivviiieiiiiiiieeeeeees 3,514,527 25,252 3,489,275 -
Fixed income securities, held for trading securities:

United States government, government agencies

and authorities .........coevveieiieiiiieeeeee e, 65,652 - 65,652 -
States, municipalities and political subdivisions 203,275 - 203,275 -
Foreign governments ............cccceceveriereeenenieniseesenennenes 344,774 - 344,774 -
(0] 4010 ¥ 1P 176,410 - 176,410 -

Total fixed income securities, held for
trading SECUTTHIES ..vvvveveeeeeeeieie e 790,111 - 790,111 -

Redeemable preferred stock, available for sale ............. 54 - 54 -
Convertible preferred stocks,
held for trading SECUTItIes .......c.ecvevereeeeerieieirieieeene 219,530 - 213,530 6,000
Common stocks, available for sale ..............cceeevieinns 694,144 680,516 13,628 -
Common stocks, held for trading
and fair value options..........ccceevveveririieninieerceeee 202,102 155,974 16,518 29,610
Short-term investments, held for trading securities ....... 1,965,504 1,961,419 4,085 -
Cash equivalents ...........ccocevererieirereeeeee e 156,041 129,571 26,470 -
Derivatives ............. 132,024 - 45,062 86,962
Other investments 97,138 - 11,515 85,623

Total assets measured at fair value ............................ $ 7,771,175 $ 2,952,732 $ 4,610,248 $ 208,195
Derivative Habilities ......c.ooveeveveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen. $ 81,855 $ - $ 81,855 $ -

The Company has had cash collateral posted on its behalf by counterparties to derivative transactions in the amounts
of $6.9 million and $18.4 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The Company is not party to any
counterparty netting transactions.
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The following table provides a summary of changes in the fair value of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities for the

years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Fixed Income Other Invested Equity Debt

Securities Assets Securities Obligations

Balance, January 1, 201 1.....cccoooieiiniiiiiiiiecienn, $ - $ 396,842 $ 26913 $ _
Changes in value related to securities held ............ - (127,357) 2,697 -
Purchases ........coooeviveveeiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e - 119,971 6,000 -
SettIEMENTS ..eeeeeveeeiiieeciii et - (216,871) - -
Balance, December 31, 201 1.......ccoovvvveeiiiinnnennn. - 172,585 35,610 -
Changes in value related to securities sold ............ - (257) - -
Changes in value related to securities held ............ 2,050 (18,937) (9,630) -
Purchases .........oooovvveiiiiiiieeeeeee 16,088 216,997 20,134 2,164
SEHICMENLS ...veeeeeieeiieeiieeie e - (158,993) - -
Balance, December 31, 2012........cccceevvveinnneennn. $ 18,138 $ 211,395 $ 46,114 $ 2,164

The following tables present changes in value included in net income related to Level 3 assets for the years ended

December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Net Net
Investment Realized Capital Currency
December 31,2012 Income Gains (Losses) Translation Total
Fixed income securiti€s..........ccvevenne.n. $ 520 $ 1,650 $ (120) 2,050
Other invested assetS......cceeeerrieennen. - (19,194) - (19,194)
Equity Securities ......ccoceveeveriueneenenneen. - (9,594) (36) (9,630)
$ 520 $ (27,138) $ (156) (26,774)
December 31, 2011
Other invested assetS.......cccccevveveennnn. $ - $ (127,357) $ - (127,357)
Equity securities......ccecceeeveereernieennnnn. - 2,697 - 2,697
$ - $ (124,660) $ - (124,660)
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The following table provides information on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs and ranges for
each major category of Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Significant
Balance at Valuation Unobservable
Asset Type December 31, 2012 Techniques Inputs Range
Fixed income — $18,138 Income Risk premium for 13.7% - 17.9%
HFT approach credit risk
Preferred stock — 784 Income Risk premium for
HFT approach credit risk
15,065 Market Recent transaction
approach
Common stock - 5,021 Market Recent transaction
HFT approach
Common stock — 25,244 Market price Time lag in
FVO (1) to bookvalue  receiving book
analysis values of
comparable
companies
CPI-Linked 46,854 Market Broker quotes
Derivatives (2) approach
Partnerships — 164,541 Net asset Time lag in
at fair value (3) values receiving
distributions

The Company evaluates observable price-to-book multiples of peer companies and applies such to the most recently
available book value per share.
Valued using broker-dealer quotes that management has determined use market observable inputs except for the
inflation volatility input which is not market observable.

Includes five partnerships that are carried as held for trading securities.
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Fair Value Option

The fair value option (“FVO”) available under GAAP allows companies to irrevocably elect fair value as the initial
and subsequent measurement attribute for certain financial assets and liabilities. Changes in the fair value of assets and
liabilities for which the election is made will be recognized in net income as they occur. The FVO election is permitted on
an instrument-by-instrument basis at initial recognition of an asset or liability or upon the occurrence of an event that gives
rise to a new basis of accounting for that instrument.

The Company elected the FVO for its investment in Advent Capital (Holdings) PLC (“Advent”) as, at the time of the
election, Advent was publicly traded and its trading price was believed to be a better indicator of its value than an amount
computed under the equity method. Fairfax and its subsidiaries now own 100% of Advent’s common stock, of which the
Company holds 17.0%. To determine the fair value of Advent, the Company evaluates observable price-to-book multiples
of peer companies and applies such to Advent’s most recently available book value per share. As of December 31, 2012
and 2011, the Company’s interest in Advent was recorded at fair value of $25.2 million and $29.6 million, respectively, in
common stocks held for trading and fair value options, with related changes in fair value recognized as a realized
investment gain or loss in the period in which they occurred. The change in Advent’s fair value resulted in the recognition
of realized investment losses of $4.4 million and $6.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2010,
respectively, and a realized investment gain of $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The value of the
Company’s interest in Advent as of December 31, 2012, calculated in accordance with the equity method of accounting,
would have been $26.5 million.

During 2012 and 2011, the Company purchased Class H, C, G and A common shares of HWIC Asia Fund (“HWIC
Asia”), which is 100% owned by Fairfax and of which the Company owns 31.3%. At the time of purchase the Company
elected the FVO for these investments as HWIC Asia is a multi-class investment company that reports its investments at
fair value and provides a Net Asset Value (“NAV”) on a monthly basis.

The carrying value of the Company’s investment in various HWIC Asia common share issues as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, which is included in common stocks held for trading and fair value option on the balance sheet, and the
changes in fair value for each issue for the year then ended, are summarized below (in thousands):

HWIC Asia HWIC Asia HWIC Asia HWIC Asia
Class A Class G Class C Class H Total
Fair value at 12/31/2010 ..........cc......... $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Purchases 10,000 10,250 - - 20,250
Change in fair value .......cccoeeeeeeeeennes (3,114) (618) - - (3,732)
Fair value at 12/31/2011 .....cceeveueennes 6,886 9,632 - - 16,518
Purchases.....ccooceeevevieeeeeeceeeeee. - - 33,500 106,000 139,500
Change in fair value .....cc.ccoocceveeneens 3,255 (1,217) 16,135 865 19,038
Fair value at 12/31/2012 ..........cc.u...... $ 10,141 $ 8,415 $ 49,635 $ 106,865 $ 175,056

The Company did not elect the FVO for its other affiliated investments, as these affiliated investments were ultimately
100% owned by Fairfax and its subsidiaries, and fair values were not deemed to be readily obtainable.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, the Company has not elected the FVO for any of its liabilities.

35



ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

4. Investments and Cash

A summary of the Company’s available for sale investment portfolio as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, is as follows
(in thousands):

Cost or Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
2012 Cost Appreciation Depreciation Fair Value
Fixed income securities:
United States government, government
agencies and authorities .............ccoeeveeneenne. $ 187,891 $ 51,694 $ - $ 239,585
States, municipalities and political
SUDAIVISIONS ...eevvieiiieiieciie e 1,750,906 420,801 - 2,171,707
Foreign governments ............cccceveevueeveneennene 10,794 2,680 - 13,474
COTPOTALE ..ot 189,473 18,426 - 207,899
Total fixed income securities..................... 2,139,064 493,601 - 2,632,665
Preferred StOCKS .....oeeeviieviiiiiiciiecieecieeeieeee 54 - - 54
Common StOCKS ......cveevviierieeiiiceeeeie e 815,322 226,752 9,589 1,032,485
TOMAl oo $ 2,954,440 $ 720,353 $ 9,589 $ 3,665,204
Cost or Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
2011 Cost Appreciation Depreciation Fair Value
Fixed income securities:
United States government, government
agencies and authorities ...............c.cueveene. $ 358,656 $ 110,155 $ - $ 468,811
States, municipalities and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..eovvieeeiiieiiieeiie et 2,155,608 336,306 - 2,491,914
Foreign governments 308,229 43,938 2 352,165
COTPOTALE ...t 183,130 18,508 1 201,637
Total fixed income securities.................... 3,005,623 508,907 3 3,514,527
Preferred StOCKS ...vvovvvevvieeiiiiieiieie e 54 - - 54
Common StOCKS ........ccvievviieiiieie e 720,950 94,346 121,152 694,144
Total eoieieeiieeeeeee e $ 3,726,627 $ 603,253 $ 121,155 $ 4,208,725

Common stocks accounted for under the equity method of accounting were carried at $122.4 million and $135.1
million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Common stocks at equity had gross unrealized appreciation of
$0.8 million and $0.7 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Common stocks at equity had gross
unrealized depreciation of $14.0 million and $5.8 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Other invested
assets were carried at $472.4 million and $414.4 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, reflecting no
gross unrealized appreciation or depreciation.
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A summary of the Company’s held for trading portfolio as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows (in

thousands):
2012 2011
Fair Value Fair Value

Fixed income securities:
United States government, government agencies and authorities .............ccccceeeennee. $ 367,572 $ 65,652
States, municipalities and political SUbAIVISIONS ..........cccvieriieriiiiiie e 827,938 203,275
FOreign GOVEINIMENES ......eeeiiiieieieeiiiieeiieeiee ettt ettt et et e e ebeeessaeeaeeesaeenseeseseessseeanns 423911 344,774
COTPOTALE ...veieeneie ettt ettt et e et e et e et ee ettt et e e tbeeanteeenseeenteeenseesnseeenseeennneesneeens 225,540 176,410
Total fixed INCOME SECUTTLIES ...uvvvvvieiieeieieeiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e e e e e e e e e eeaaraeeeas 1,844,961 790,111
Preferred STOCKS .ovvvviiiiii e 229,654 219,530
COMIMON STOCKS ....vvviiieiieie ettt et e et e et e e e eaae e e eenaeeeeeaaeeeeeaeeeeens 504,029 202,102
ShOTt-termm INVESTIMIENES .......vvvieiiiiiieeiieee e et e e eeree e e et e e e et eeeeareeeeeaeeeeeenaaeeeeeneeeeeans 1,499,462 1,965,504
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ...........cooieiiiiiiiiieie e 625,025 390,283
Cash collateral for bOrroOWed SECUITTIES ......eeiiiviiiieiiiieeeeeeeeeieeeee e e eeeeee e e e e e e e eeeaanes 120,535 101,067
TOAL ittt ettt ettt eeta e e treenareenanes $ 4,823,666 $ 3,668,597

(a) Fixed Income Maturity Schedule

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed income securities as of December 31, 2012, by contractual maturity, are

shown below (in thousands).

At December 31, 2012
Available for Sale Held for Trading
Cost or Cost or
Amortized % of Total Amortized % of Total
Cost Fair Value Fair Value Cost Fair Value Fair Value
Due in one year or 1ess ......c.cccoecveveunneee $ 70,068 $ 70,512 27 % $ 255288 $§ 245,740 133 %
Due after one year through five
VEATS weeenvreeeiieeenieeeieeeireesireeneeeeereenanes 111,022 118,013 4.5 187,287 179,809 9.7
Due after five years through ten
VEALS oottt et ettt 17,317 20,617 0.8 81,849 113,164 6.1
Due after ten years . 1,940,657 2,423,523 92.0 1,246,025 1,306,248 70.9
Total fixed income securities ........ $ 2,139,064 $ 2,632,665 100.0 % $ 1,770,449 $ 1,844,961 100.0 %

Actual maturities may differ from the contractual maturities shown in the table above due to the existence of call or
put options. In the case of securities containing call options, the actual maturity will be the same as the contractual maturity
if the issuer elects not to exercise its call option. Total securities subject to call options represent approximately 50.1% of
the total fair value. In the case of securities containing put options, the actual maturity will be the same as the contractual
maturity if the Company elects not to exercise its put option. Total securities containing the put option represent

approximately 0.6% of the total fair value.
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(b) Net Investment Income and Realized Investment Gains (Losses)

The following table sets forth the components of net investment income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010

Interest on fixed INCOME SECUTTLIES ........evvreveeeieriiieceeceeeieeee e $ 196,603 $ 289,364 $ 291,189
Dividends on preferred StOCKS ......oovievieriieiiieiiieiecieeec e 14,044 16,641 6,976
Dividends on common StOCKS ........cc.eeeeeuiieeiiiiiiiiieciieeeiee e 17,824 20,255 31,884
Net income of common Stocks, at €qUILY ......ccveeveeerieiieenienieeiieniens (834) 4,988 13,823
Interest on cash and short-term INVESMENtS ..........eeeevveeveeeeieciieeeennns 6,023 4,655 7914
Other INVESIEA ASSELS ...vvvviiieiiieieeee ettt e e e e eaeee s e 28,681 30,644 35,310
Gross INVESTMENT INCOIME ....coeeeviiiiiiiiiiiieiieieieie e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeenes 262,341 366,547 387,096
Less: INVEStMENT EXPEINSES ..vevvreureerrieereerieeeeriessreereessaeereeseeessseesseesnnes 98,066 79,432 56,026
Less: interest on funds held under reinsurance contracts ..................... 2,107 2,954 3,195
Net INVEStMENE TNCOMIE ....eeeeeeeeeeeeee et e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens $ 162,168 $ 284,161 $ 327,875

The following table summarizes the Company’s net realized investment gains for the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
AVATADIE TOT SAE......cviieiiiee e $ 216,597 $ 207,184 $ 379,983
Held for trading:
FrOM SALES.....ccuviiiiiiiieeiie e e (234,141) 86,796 (289,034)
From mark to market adjustments............ccccceeeveenieneeniiinieeneeeeee, 82,290 (228,208) 79,400
Total held for trading...........oceevvieriierieeie et (151,851) (141,412) (209,634)
Total net realized investment Gains...........ceeeeveeeeeeiveeneeneennens $ 64,746 $ 65,772 $ 170,349
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The following table sets forth the components of net realized investment gains and losses on the Company’s available
for sale securities for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Fixed income securities:
Realized inVeStMENt GAINS..........oocviieeeeiieieee e $ 273,278 $ 203,270 $ 254,876
Realized InvesStMeENt IOSSES ......covvviieeiiieieeieieeeceeee e 11,537 205,238 108,291
Net realized investment gains (10SS€S)........cceeevievuieecieecriennieenen. 261,741 (1,968) 146,585
Preferred stock:
Realized INVEStMENt GAINS ....cc.veevieeiiiiiieiieeiie et - - 1,548
Realized investment LOSSES .........cceeeuiieiieiuieeeieeieecii e - - -
Net realized investment gains ...........ccceeeveevieerieeieenieereeseeenens - - 1,548
Equity securities:
Realized INVEStMENt GAINS ....ccvvievieeiiieiieeiieeiie e eie e sae e 129,733 225,228 258,039
Realized inVeStMENt 10SSES ......vvviiiiiiiiiiiiieieiieee e 174,877 16,076 26,189
Net realized investment (10SS€S) aINS........ccveecviereiieriieeriesieeenenn (45,144) 209,152 231,850
Total available for sale realized investment gains:
Realized INVEStMENt GAINS ....cvvrierieriiieiieiiieeiie e eve e 403,011 428,498 514,463
Realized investment 10SSES ......viviiiieviiieiiiiiieee e 186,414 221,314 134,480
Net realized investment GaiNS ............cccceveeveeeveeereeeeeeeeeeeneenns $ 216,597 $ 207,184 $ 379,983
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The net realized investment gains or losses on disposal in the table below represent the total gains or losses from the
purchase dates of the investments and have been reported in net realized investment gains in the consolidated statements of
operations. The change in fair value presented below consists of two components: (i) the reversal of the gain or loss
recognized in previous years on securities sold and (ii) the change in fair value resulting from mark-to-market adjustments
on contracts still outstanding. The following table sets forth the total net realized investment gains and losses on held for
trading securities for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010

Fixed income securities:

Net realized investment gains (losses) on disposal............ccccevverveennnnne. $ 6,587 $ 37,809 $ (25,164)

Change in fair ValUC.........c..ooveeiiiiiiiiieieece e 89,236 (122,895) 124,571
Net realized investment gains (10SS€S).........cccvvereevvireeciieeeeerieeennen. 95,823 (85,086) 99,407

Preferred stock:

Change in fair ValUue...........coovieiiiiiiiiiieiecieee e (9,471) (614) (7,869)
Net realized investment 10SSES.........cvvierviieiieiiieiiieieeie e (9,471) (614) (7,869)

Equity securities:

Net realized investment gains on disposal............cccceevvievirecreeeieesieennnn. 14,464 3,025 -

Change in fair ValUue...........ooovieiiiiiiiiiieeee e 56,286 (42,736) (6,011)
Net realized investment gains (I0SSES).......cceevvvievrieeveieevieereeeeeeenne 70,750 (39,711) (6,011)

Derivative securities:

Net realized investment (losses) gains on disposal..........cccceeeevveeeeinnennn. (251,218) 46,136 (251,764)

Change in fair Value........c.coooiiiiiiiiiiiiie e (93,836) (53,157) (28,245)
Net realized investment 10SSES........ccvevvievuieeiiieiiecieececeie s (345,054) (7,021) (280,009)

Other securities:

Net realized investment losses on disposal..........c.cccoceevvvieiiiiiiiiiiieiieen, (3,974) (174) (12,106)

Change in fair ValUC.........c.cooieeiiiiieiiieieeiecee e 40,075 (8,806) (3,046)
Net realized investment gains (10SS€S)......cc.ccvveevvieiieevreeeirieereennnan 36,101 (8,980) (15,152)

Total held for trading realized investment gains:

Net realized investment (losses) gains on disposal ............ccceevererennnnne. (234,141) 86,796 (289,034)

Change in fair ValUC...........ccoieeiiiiiiiiieieeieceee e 82,290 (228,208) 79,400
Net realized investment 10SSES..........cceveevevieverieieieieieeeeeeeeeee $ (151,851) § (141,412)  $ (209,634)

Included in net realized investment gains for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are $174.9 million,
$195.8 million and $20.3 million, respectively, related to realized investment losses on the other-than-temporary
impairment of investments, as follows (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Fixed iNCOME SECUTTLIES .....ovvvinieeiiieieiiieiieieieie e $ - $ 188,780 $ 2,911
EQUILY SECUTTLIES ..eiiiiviieiiiieeiiieeeiiee e et e e et e e e e e eive e e e rbeeeesreeeeanns 174,877 7,001 17,397
Total other-than-temporary impairments ...............cccccceveeveeneene.n. $ 174,877 $ 195,781 $ 20,308

For those fixed income securities that were determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired, the Company determined
that such impairments were related to credit, requiring the recognition of an impairment charge to income, and not related
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to other factors (e.g., interest rates and market conditions) which would have required charges to other comprehensive
income.

(¢) Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation)

The following table sets forth the changes in unrealized net appreciation (depreciation) of investments, and the related
tax effect, reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in
thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Fixed income securities $  (19.827) $ 468,311 $  (322,946)
Equity securities ......... 235,954 (370,586) (12,211)
Other invested assets - (7) -
Increase (decrease) in unrealized net
appreciation (depreciation) of inVeStMents ..........ccccceeveeeeereeneenneene 216,127 97,718 (335,157)
Deferred income tax (expense) benefit..........coccevevieeriiiniieniieneeee (75,594) (34,362) 129,285
Change in net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of
investments included in other comprehensive income................ $ 140,533 $ 63,356 $§  (205,872)

On a quarterly basis, the Company reviews its investment portfolio for declines in value, and specifically evaluates
securities with fair values that have declined to less than 80% of their cost or amortized cost at the time of review. Declines
in the fair value of investments which are determined to be temporary are recorded as unrealized depreciation, net of tax, in
accumulated other comprehensive income. If the Company determines that a decline relating to credit issues is “other-than-
temporary,” the cost or amortized cost of the investment will be written down to the fair value, and a realized loss will be
recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. If the Company determines that a decline related to other
factors (e.g., interest rates or market conditions) is “other-than-temporary,” the cost or amortized cost of the investment will
be written down to the fair value within other comprehensive income.

In assessing the value of the Company’s debt and equity securities held as investments, and possible impairments of
such securities, the Company reviews (i) the issuer’s current financial position and disclosures related thereto, (ii) general
and specific market and industry developments, (iii) the timely payment by the issuer of its principal, interest and other
obligations, (iv)the outlook and expected financial performance of the issuer, (v)current and historical valuation
parameters for the issuer and similar companies, (vi) relevant forecasts, analyses and recommendations by research
analysts, rating agencies and investment advisors, and (vii) other information the Company may consider relevant.
Generally, a change in the market or interest rate environment would not, of itself, result in an impairment of an investment.
In addition, the Company considers its ability and intent to hold the security to recovery when evaluating possible
impairments.

The facts and circumstances involved in making a decision regarding an other-than-temporary impairment are those
that exist at that time. Should the facts and circumstances change such that an other-than-temporary impairment is
considered appropriate, the Company will recognize the impairment by reducing the cost, amortized cost or carrying value
of the investment to its fair value, and recording the loss in its consolidated statements of operations. Upon the disposition
of a security where an other-than-temporary impairment has been taken, the Company will record a gain or loss based on
the adjusted cost or carrying value of the investment.
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The following tables reflect the fair value and gross unrealized depreciation of the Company’s fixed income securities,
and common stocks, at fair value, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been
in a continuous unrealized depreciation position, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Duration of Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 Months Greater than 12 Months Total
Gross Number Gross Number Gross Number
Fair Unrealized of Fair Unrealized of Fair Unrealized of
Value Depreciation Securities Value Depreciation Securities Value Depreciation Securities
December 31,2012
Common stocks, at fair value....... $ 68,569 $ (9,589) 3 $ - $ - - $ 68,569 $ (9,589) 3
Total temporarily
impaired securities............... $ 68,569 $ (9,589) 3 $ - $ - - $ 68,569 $ (9.,589) 3
December 31, 2011
Fixed income securities
non-investment grade,
Foreign governments............ $ 5,923 $ (1) 1 $ 13,144 $ (1) 1 $ 19,067 $ 2) 2
Corporate........coceeveeienienens 5,753 (1) 1 - - - 5,753 (1) 1
Total fixed income
SECUTTtIES...orvovriicciiane 11,676 2) 2 13,144 (1) 1 24,820 3) 3
Common stocks, at fair value....... 261,884 (121,152) 9 - - 261,884 (121,152) 9
Total temporarily
impaired securities............... $ 273,560 $ (121,154) 11 $ 13,144 $ (1) 1 $ 286,704 $ (121,155) 12

The Company believes the gross unrealized depreciation is temporary in nature and the Company has not recorded a
realized investment loss related to these securities. Given the size of the Company’s investment portfolio and capital
position, the Company believes it is likely that it will not be required to sell or liquidate these securities before the fair
value recovers the gross unrealized depreciation.

(d) Common Stocks, at Equity

The following table sets forth the components of common stocks, at equity, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in
thousands):

2012 2011
Fairfax Asia LIMITEA .....coooiiiiiiiiee et e e e e e e e e eas $ 86,901 $ 86,878
Zenith National Insurance Corp. . . 35,472 48,227
(011 1< PSPPSR RPUPSPRURRPINY 27 27
Total cOMMON StOCKS, At @QUILY ..ouvieieiietieeiieiie et et et eeeeeiee e e eite et e seteenaeeeseesaeeeaeenes $ 122,400 $ 135,132

As of December 31, 2012, the relative ownership held by the Company was 17.4% (economic) for Fairfax Asia
Limited and 6.2% (economic) for Zenith. Fairfax Asia Limited and Zenith are each 100% owned by subsidiaries of
Fairfax, including the Company.
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(e)  Other Invested Assets

Other invested assets totaled $472.4 million as of December 31, 2012, compared to $414.4 million as of December 31,
2011. The following table shows the components of other invested assets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in
thousands):

2012 2011

Investment funds and partnerships, at €QUILY ........c.ocveieveieriereeereeeeeeeeeeee e $ 220,007 $ 178,545
Investment funds and partnerships, at fair value ...........cccooeiieiiiiiiiiiii e 164,541 81,097
Derivatives, at Al VAIUE .........ooiiiiiiiiiiiie et 70,407 132,025
Benefit plan funds, at fair VAIUE ...........cooiiiiiiiiiieecee e 10,758 11,515
Unsecured loan to Fairfax (US) INC. ....cc.oiiiuiiiiiiiiee et - 4,526
O.R.E Holdings LImMIted ......ccccoviiiiiiiiiiieiiieecec ettt ettt e 6,730 6,730

TOtal OthEr TNVESTEA ASSELS ....veeeeee e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e eeaeee s $ 472,443 $ 414,438

The Company’s investment funds and partnership investments may be subject to restrictions on redemptions or sales,
which are determined by the governing documents thereof, and may limit the Company’s ability to liquidate these
investments in the short term. Due to a time lag in reporting by a majority of investment fund and partnership fund
managers, valuations for these investments are reported by OdysseyRe on a one month or one quarter lag. For the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company recognized net investment income of $4.2 million, $3.3 million
and $14.5 million, respectively, from its investment funds and partnership investments. For the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company recognized net realized investment gains of $36.2 million and net realized investment
losses of $3.8 million and $0.6 million, respectively, from its investment funds and partnerships that are held as trading
securities. With respect to the Company’s $384.5 million in investments in investment funds and partnerships, the
Company has commitments that may require additional funding of up to $131.3 million. As of December 31, 2012, other
invested assets include $6.7 million related to the Company’s investment in O.R.E Holdings Limited, which is net of other-
than-temporary write-downs of $9.9 million.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company held one collateral loan which constituted a financial instrument without a
quoted price, or a “non-traded investment.” This collateral loan was fully impaired during 2005. The Company periodically
evaluates the carrying values of non-traded investments by reviewing the borrowers’ current financial position and the
timeliness of their interest and principal payments.

On October 14, 2011, the Company entered into a direct participation agreement pursuant to which the Company
purchased collateral loans at a cost of $154.9 million. The collateral loans were sold as of December 22, 2011. The
Company collected interest income on collateral loans of $1.2 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively.
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(f) Derivative Investments

ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.

The Company has utilized credit default swaps, warrants, total return swaps, interest rate options, forward currency
contracts, swaptions and CPI-linked derivative contracts to manage against adverse changes in the values of assets and
liabilities. These products are typically not directly linked to specific assets or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets
or a forecasted transaction and, therefore, do not qualify for hedge accounting. The following tables set forth the
Company’s derivative positions, which are included in other invested assets or other liabilities in the consolidated balance

sheets, as of December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, respectively (in thousands):

Exposure/
Notional Fair Value Fair Value

As of December 31, 2012 Amount Cost Asset Liability
CPI-linked derivative contracts.................. $ 20,408,111 $ 183,804 $ 46,854 -
SWaAPLIONS....cviiiieiieieeieeie e 10,348,974 17,558 4,039
Short total return swaps...........ccoeeveevveennne 2,652,581 - 15,839 61,190
Long total return swaps.........cccceeeeereveennnne 531,975 - - 13,241
Forward currency contracts ....................... 502,370 - 1,874 10,682
Credit default sSwaps.........cccceevvevieniienniennen. 214,799 2,287 333 -
Interest rate SWaps ........ccceevereereienieenieennen. 140,000 - - 3,071
WaAITANES ..o 90,215 2,967 1,468 -

Total ceveevieeeceeeeeeeee e $ 206,616 $ 70,407 88,184
As of December 31, 2011
CPI-linked derivative contracts.................. $ 19,024,800 $ 169,352 $ 86,962 -
Short total return swaps.........cccceeeeereeenenne 2,160,169 - 19,120 34,728
Long total return swaps..........c.cceeeveevennene 724,063 - - 35,901
Forward currency contracts ..............c........ 469,867 - 5,553 6,191
Credit default SWaps.........ccoeveveevereeieneennen 445,934 5,693 7,201 -
WaAITANES ....ovveeieiiieeecceeeeeeeee e 156,365 5,682 13,189 -
Interest rate SWaps ......ccceeeeveevverienieeneennensn 140,000 - - 5,036

Total coveevieeeeeeceee e $ 180,727 $ 132,025 81,856
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The following tables summarize the effect of the derivative instruments used to manage adverse changes in values and
related items on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the years ended
December 31,2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Effect on Pre-tax:

Exposure / Other Net Realized Net Cash
Notional Carrying Comprehensive Investment Flow from
Value Value Income Gains Net Equity Disposals
As of and for the Year Ended
December 31,2012
Equity risk exposures:
Preferred StOCkS ..o $ 229,708 $ 229,708 $ - S 9471) $ 9471) $ -
Common stocks, at fair value ................ 1,336,215 1,336,215 243,969 10,935 254,904 (39,934)
Other 531,975 (13,241) - 41,594 41,594 18,934
Total equity eXpOSUIE ....cecvreercecenene $ 2,097,898  § 1,552,682 243,969 43,058 287,027 (21,000)
Derivative instruments:
Other invested assets:
Total return SWaps ......coeeeeveveeerencnene $ 2,652,581 $ (45,351) - (293,702) (293,702) (263,959)
Total equity hedging instruments ............ $ 2,652,581 § (45,351) - (293,702) (293,702) (263,959)
Net equity impact $ 243,969 $ (250,644) $ (6,675) $ (284,959)
As of and for the Year Ended
December 31, 2011
Equity risk exposures:
Preferred StOCKS .vvevieiniciiieeien $ 219,584 $ 219,584 $ -3 614) $ 614) $ -
Common stocks, at fair value ................. 850,118 850,118 (357,649) 170,475 (187,174) 198,982
Other 724,063 (35,901) - (55,320) (55,320) (21,628)
Total equity €XpOSUIE .....c.cveeeureeurenee $ 1,793,765  § 1,033,801 (357,649) 114,541 (243,108) 177,354
Derivative instruments:
Other invested assets:
Total return SWaps .........ooeeeeeeeereeeene $ 2,160,169 $ (15,608) - 151,184 151,184 99,945
Total equity hedging instruments ............ $ 2,160,169 § (15,608) - 151,184 151,184 99,945
Net equity impact $ (357,649) $ 265,725 $ (91,924) $ 277,299

In the normal course of effecting its economic hedging strategy with respect to equity risk, the Company expects that
there may be periods where the notional value of the derivative instrument may exceed or be less than the exposure item.
This situation may arise when management compensates for imperfect correlations between the exposed item and the
derivative instrument used to manage change in the value of the item, due to the timing of opportunities related to the
Company’s ability to exit and enter markets at attractive prices or when management desires to only partially manage an
exposure.

As an economic hedge against the potential adverse impact on the Company of decreasing price levels in the
economy, the Company has purchased derivative contracts referenced to consumer price indices (“CPI”) in the geographic
regions in which the Company operates. These contracts have a remaining average life of 7.7 years and 8.6 years as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. As the remaining life of a contract declines, the fair value of the contract
(excluding the impact of CPI changes) will generally decline. The initial premium paid for the contracts is recorded as a
derivative asset and subsequently adjusted for changes in the unrealized fair value of the contracts at each balance sheet
date. Changes in the unrealized fair value of the contracts are recorded as realized gains or losses on investments in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying value of the derivative asset. In the event of a sale, expiration or early settlement of one of the Company’s CPI-
linked derivative contracts, the Company would receive the fair value of that contract on the date of the transaction. The
Company’s maximum potential cash loss is limited to the premiums paid to enter into the derivative contracts. Pursuant to
the agreements governing the CPI-linked derivatives, counterparties to these transactions are contractually required to
periodically deposit eligible collateral for the benefit of the Company in support of the then-current fair value of the
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derivative contracts. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value of this collateral was $6.9 million and $53.5
million, respectively.

During 2012, the Company entered into swaption agreements with a notional value of $10.3 billion. The swaption
agreements give the Company the option to enter into interest rate swap contracts where the Company would pay a fixed
interest rate and receive a floating interest rate. Swaptions, which are included in other invested assets as of December 31,
2012, are recorded at fair value, with the related changes in fair value recognized as realized investment gains or losses in
the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they occur.

The Company holds significant investments in equities and equity-related securities, which the Company believes will
significantly appreciate in value over time. The market values and the liquidity of these investments are volatile and may
vary significantly either up or down in short periods. Their ultimate value, therefore, will only be known over the long
term. As a result of volatility in the equity markets and the uncertainty caused by credit concerns related to the sovereign
debt of certain countries in the European Union, the Company determined to increase the level of protection of its equity
and equity-related holdings against a potential decline in equity markets by way of additional short positions effected
through equity index total return swaps. As a result, beginning in September 2009 and continuing through 2012, the
Company initiated U.S. equity index total return swap contracts to protect against potential future broad market downturns,
which had an aggregate notional value of $2.5 billion and $2.0 billion as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The
collateral requirements related to entering the total return swaps were $262.6 million and $257.1 million as of December
31,2012 and 2011, respectively. These total return swap transactions terminate during the second and third quarter of 2013.
The equity index total return swaps are recorded at fair value in other invested assets or other liabilities based on a positive
or negative value as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, with the related changes in the fair values recorded as
realized investment gains or losses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur.

The Company held long position common stock total return swaps, with a total notional value of $532.0 million and
$724.1 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, as replications of investments in publicly-listed common
stocks. The collateral requirement related to these swaps, which terminate in the third and fourth quarter of 2013, was
$47.2 million as of December 31, 2012. The common stock total return swaps, which are carried at fair value, were in a loss
position as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and are recorded in other liabilities. Changes in the fair value of common
stock total return swaps are recorded as realized investment gains or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company held short position common stock total return swaps, with a
notional value of $115.3 million and $162.5 million, respectively. The collateral requirement related to these swaps, which
terminate in the first and third quarter of 2013, was $7.0 million and $8.5 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The common stock total return swaps were recorded at fair value in other liabilities as of December 31, 2012
and were recorded in other invested assets as of December 31, 2011. Changes in the fair value are recorded as realized
investment gains or losses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period in which
they occur. Pursuant to the agreements governing the total return swap contracts, counterparties to these transactions are
contractually required to periodically deposit eligible collateral for the benefit of the Company in support of the then-
current fair value of the derivative contracts. As of December 31, 2012, no collateral was required to be posted by the
counterparties. As of December 31, 2011, the fair value of this collateral was $21.9 million.

The Company has entered into forward currency contracts to manage its foreign currency exchange rate risk on a
macro basis. Under a forward currency contract, the Company and the counterparty are obligated to purchase or sell an
underlying currency at a specified price and time. The Company’s collateral requirement related to the forward currency
contracts was $2.3 million and $4.7 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Forward currency contracts
are recorded at fair value in other invested assets or other liabilities based on a positive or negative value as of December
31, 2012 and 2011, with the related changes in fair value recognized as realized investment gains or losses in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. As a result of the
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appreciation in the fair value of the forward contracts, counterparties to these transactions are required to place government
securities as collateral, pursuant to the forward contract agreements. The fair value of the collateral as of December 31,
2012 and 2011 was $3.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

The Company holds credit default swap contracts under which the Company, as the buyer, agrees to pay, at specified
periods, fixed premium amounts based on an agreed notional principal amount in exchange for protection against default by
the issuers of specified referenced debt securities. Credit default swaps, which are included in other invested assets as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, are recorded at fair value, with the related changes in fair value recognized as realized
investment gains or losses in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they occur.

The Company has entered into interest rate swaps to protect it from adverse movements in interest rates. Under its
current interest rate swap contracts, the Company receives a floating interest rate and pays a fixed interest rate based on the
notional amounts in the contracts. Interest rate swaps are recorded at fair value in other liabilities as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, with the related changes in fair value recognized as realized investment gains or losses in the consolidated
statements of operations in the period in which they occur.

The Company has investments in warrants, which are contracts that grant the holder the right, but not the obligation,
to purchase an underlying financial instrument at a given price and time or at a series of prices and times. Warrants, which
are included in other invested assets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, are recorded at fair value, with the related changes
in fair value recognized as realized investment gains or losses in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in
which they occur.

Counterparties to the derivative instruments expose the Company to credit risk in the event of non-performance. The
Company believes this risk is low, given the diversification among various highly rated counterparties. The credit risk
exposure is reflected in the fair value of the derivative instruments.
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The net realized investment gains or losses on disposal in the table below represent the total gains or losses from the
purchase dates of the investments and have been reported in net realized investment gains in the consolidated statements of
operations. The change in fair value presented below consists of two components: (i) the reversal of the gain or loss
recognized in previous years on securities sold and (ii) the change in fair value resulting from mark-to-market adjustments
on contracts still outstanding. The following table sets forth the total net realized investment gains and losses on derivatives

for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
CPI-linked derivative contracts:
Net realized investment losses on disposal...........ccccceeeeeviiiecieeennnn. $ (840) (21,442) $ -
Change in fair Value ............ocoeeiioiiieieeeeeeeee e (54,560) (102,080) 19,643
Net realized investment (10SS€S) ZAINS ......ccveevvveiviecriecieeeiieiieieennen. (55,400) (123,522) 19,643
Swaptions:
Change in fair Value .........c.ccoeeiviiiiiiiiieiiceeeeee e (13,519) - -
Net realized investment 10SSES........cc.eevvievueeiieiiieieeieeee e (13,519) - -
Short total return swaps:
Net realized investment (losses) gains on disposal .............ccccveneeee. (263,959) 99,945 (257,882)
Change in fair VAlUe ........ccceeevieiiieiieiieieeie e (29,743) 51,239 (69,978)
Net realized investment (10SSES) ZAINS.......c..ccveeveieirecieeiieieeieenienns (293,702) 151,184 (327,860)
Long total return swaps:
Net realized investment gains (losses) on disposal .............cccevenieee. 18,934 (21,628) 63,360
Change in fair ValUe ........ccceevvieiiieiieiiee e 22,660 (33,692) (2,208)
Net realized investment gains (10SSES).......cevcveevrririieeieeieeieeiienns 41,594 (55,320) 61,152
Forward currency contracts:
Net realized investment losses on disposal ..........ccceceevieieeiiiieniens (12,970) (8,573) (39,435)
Change in fair Value .......ccoceviiiiieieeceeeeeeee e (8,170) 24,421 14,191
Net realized investment (10SS€S) ZaINS........ccccceveeveieeeiieerreeereeenee. (21,140) 15,848 (25,244)
Credit default swaps:
Net realized investment losses on disposal ............ccceeeveeiieieinieennnnne. (3,405) - (14,890)
Change in fair Value .........c.occeeviiiiiieiieiicee e (3,463) (1,248) 13,353
Net realized investment 10SSES........cc.eevvieveeeiieiiieieeieeie e (6,868) (1,248) (1,537)
Interest rate swaps:
Net realized investment losses on disposal ............ccceeveeiieieinieennnnne. (2,892) (3,107) (3,058)
Change in fair VAlUE ........ccceevvieiiieiiieiieie e 1,965 360 (5,352)
Net realized investment 10SSES .......c.ccveevierieieeiieeieceecieeee e (927) (2,747) (8,410)
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2012 2011 2010
Warrants:
Net realized investment gains on disposal ............c.ccccevvevvieiieniennn. 13,914 941 141
Change in fair value .........ccocveeiiiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeeeee e (9,006) 7,843 2,106
Net realized investment Gains.............cceeveeveevierieerieieeeeie e 4,908 8,784 2,247
Total derivatives:
Net realized investment (losses) gains on disposal ............c.ccueeuene (251,218) 46,136 (251,764)
Change in fair Value .........ocoveveiinieieicieeceeeeeee e (93,836) (53,157) (28,245)
Net realized investment I0SSES........c.ooveeieviieieniieieiiieieeeeeeeeeees $ (345,054) §$ (7,021) $ (280,009)

(g) Assets on Deposit

The Company is required to maintain assets on deposit with various regulatory authorities to support its insurance and
reinsurance operations. These requirements are generally promulgated in the statutes and regulations of the individual
jurisdictions. The assets on deposit are available to settle insurance and reinsurance liabilities. The Company utilizes trust
funds in certain transactions where the trust funds are set up for the benefit of the ceding companies and generally take the
place of letter of credit requirements. As of December 31, 2012, restricted assets supporting these deposits and trust fund
requirements totaled $1.5 billion, as depicted in the following table (in thousands):

Restricted Assets Relating to:

U.S. Foreign
Regulatory Regulatory
Requirements Requirements Total
Fixed INCOME SECUTTEIES ...vevieieieieeeeeeeeeeceee et $ 589,596 §$ 462470  $ 1,052,066
Cash, cash equivalents and short-terminvestments .................... 228 446,295 446,523
TOLAL 1ttt $ 589,824  § 908,765  $ 1,498,589
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5. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table shows the components of the change in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of deferred
income taxes, for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Beginning balance of unrealized net appreciation on securities ..................... $ 311,003 $ 331,352 $ 537,224
ClearWwater traNSTEI........ccoovviiiiiiie e - (83,705) -
Adjusted beginning balance............ccoceeveerienieiiiniienieeeen. 311,003 247,647 537,224
Ending balance of unrealized net appreciation on securities 451,536 311,003 331,352
Current period change in unrealized net
appreciation (depreciation) 0N SECUIILIES ......evvvrervreervieeriererieeerieeeieeereeennes 140,533 63,356 (205,872)
Beginning balance of foreign currency translation adjustments ..................... 80,510 64,899 13,484
Clearwater transfer...................... - (717) -
Adjusted beginning balance 80,510 64,182 13,484
Ending balance of foreign currency translation adjustments .............c..c.c...... 66,043 80,510 64,899
Current period change in foreign currency translation adjustments ............ (14,467) 16,328 51,415
Beginning balance of benefit plan liabilities ...........cccooveevieeieviiecieiieiceiee (10,243) (4,766) (5,239)
Ending balance of benefit plan liabilities ...........ccceveveevienrienenne (20,461) (10,243) (4,766)
Current period change in benefit plan liabilities (10,218) (5,477) 473
Other comprehensive income (10SS) ......oveveirirveeiririeieeirseeeeeeeeeenes $ 115,848 $ 74,207 $ (153,984)
Beginning balance of accumulated other comprehensive income .................. $ 381,270 $ 391,485 $ 545,469
Other comprehensive inCome (10SS) ....oovvevververierienieieeiesieeie e 115,848 74,207 (153,984)
ClearWater traNSTEI........ccoviiiiiiiic et - (84,422) -
Change in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income ..........c.ccoeeeeee 115,848 (10,215) (153,984)
Ending balance of accumulated other comprehensive income ................ $ 497,118 $ 381,270 $ 391,485
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The following table shows the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), and the related
deferred income taxes on each component, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

2012 2011
Gross:
Unrealized appreciation 0N SECUTTEIES .........c.eeiiuieeriieeiiieerieeneeeeieesreesteesseesseeesseeenseeessaeensneens $ 694,221 $ 478,094
Foreign currency translation adjustments ............oceeeriieiiiiniienie e 101,670 123,927
Benefit plan HabIlItIES ........cc.eeouiiierieiie ittt e (31,479) (15,759)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income, gross of deferred income taxes................... $ 764,412 $ 586,262
Deferred taxes:
Unrealized appreciation On SECUTTHES .......c.ueivierrierireieeieeieetieeteesieeteeeeeeieseeeseesaeesseeseesseennens $  (242,685) $§ (167,091)
Foreign currency translation adjustments .............ceoierieiieniierieeie e see et (35,627) (43,417)
Benefit plan Habilities .........c.eeiiiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt et e 11,018 5,516
Total deferred taxes on accumulated other comprehensive iINCOMe...........ceevvvereeerieenieeneeennen. $ (267,294) $  (204,992)
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6. Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The following table sets forth the activity in the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Gross unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, beginning Of YEar .........c.ocooeivieiiiieieieieeieeeeieeeie s $ 5,517,600 $ 5,809,665 $§ 5,507,766
Less: Ceded unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, beginning Of YEar .......c.cccovevereeieienierece e 767,651 952,455 841,486
Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, beginning Of Year ........ccocceevieiieiieerieecceee e 4,749,949 4,857,210 4,666,280
Add: Net incurred losses and loss adjustment
expenses related to:
CUITENE YEAT ...vviiivieeiereeeereeeiee et e eeteeeeaeeeeteeeeveeesaseesaseessseeeseeenaneenns 1,566,488 1,863,733 1,320,651
PIIOT YEATS ...uviieiieie ettt eae e (152,021) (51,391) (3,598)
Total net incurred losses and loss adjustment
CXPEIISES ..vvvieerieareeteeseeteeteeteeeteeteeaeeaseesseeaseeaseeaseease e e eeaeeeas 1,414,467 1,812,342 1,317,053
Less: Net paid losses and loss adjustment expenses
related to:
CUTTENE YEAT ...vviviieeieetieeieeetee et ettt eteeeteeeveeae e eaveeseesseeaseeaneeaneas 233,620 438,955 184,373
PIIOT YEATS ..uviiiiiiiceie ettt ettt eae v 1,132,397 958,379 988,205
Total net paid losses and loss adjustment
CXPECIISES ..vvnvrerrienreereesseesseeseesseesseeseesseesseesseesseessenssesssesssenssenees 1,366,017 1,397,334 1,172,578
Disposition of Clearwater's net unpaid losses
and 10ss adjustment EXPENSES.........ccveereeeeriereeeeesieenreesreesseeveennas - (484,230) -
Effects of exchange rate changes ...........ccceeveeiieviieciieciicieeiceie e 20,350 (38,039) 46,455
Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment
exXpenses, eNd OF YEAT .....ccvieviieriieiieieeie e 4,818,749 4,749,949 4,857,210
Add: Ceded unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, eNd OF YEAT ........coiiiieiieiieeeeee e 813,573 767,651 952,455
Gross unpaid losses and loss adjustment
expenses, end OF YEAT .......ccoovoveviieveiieeeceeeeceeee e $ 5632322 § 5,517,600 § 5,809,665

Estimates of reserves for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, with respect to loss events that have occurred on
or before the balance sheet date, are contingent on many assumptions that may or may not occur in the future. These
assumptions include loss estimates attributable to a variety of loss events, including earthquakes, hurricanes, windstorms
and floods. The eventual outcome of these loss events may be different from the assumptions underlying the Company’s
reserve estimates. When the business environment and loss trends diverge from expected trends, the Company may have to
adjust its reserves accordingly, potentially resulting in adverse or favorable effects to the Company’s financial results. The
Company believes that the recorded estimate represents the best estimate of unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses
based on the information available as of December 31, 2012. The estimate is reviewed on a quarterly basis and the ultimate
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liability may be greater or less than the amounts provided, for which any adjustments will be reflected in the periods in
which they become known.

Net incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses related to the current year were $1,566.5 million, $1,863.7 million
and $1,320.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease in incurred losses
and loss adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 was principally due to a decrease in property
catastrophe losses. The increase in incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 was
principally due to an increase in property catastrophe losses. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
current year catastrophe events were $305.0 million, $762.5 million and $222.2 million, respectively. For the year ended
December 31, 2012, current year property catastrophe losses included $193.2 million related to hurricane Sandy, $12.0
million related to the Italy earthquake and $10.0 million related to hurricane Isaac. For the year ended December 31, 2011,
current year property catastrophe losses included $398.4 million related to the Japan earthquake, $155.1 million related to
the Thailand flood, $25.9 million related to the February 2011 New Zealand earthquake and $18.2 million related to
hurricane Irene. For the year ended December 31, 2010, current year property catastrophe losses included $83.3 million
related to the Chile earthquake, $16.8 million related to windstorm Xynthia and $16.0 million related to the September
2010 New Zealand earthquake.

Net incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses related to prior years decreased $152.0 million, $51.4 million and
$3.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decreases in prior years’ incurred
losses and loss adjustment expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were attributable to decreased loss
estimates due to loss emergence lower than expectations in the year in the Americas, EuroAsia, London Market and U.S.
Insurance divisions. The decrease in prior years’ incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for the year ended December
31, 2010 was attributable to reduced loss estimates due to loss emergence lower than expectations in the year in the
EuroAsia, London Market and U.S. Insurance divisions, partially offset by increased loss estimates in the Americas
division.

Net paid losses and loss adjustment expenses related to the current year were $233.6 million, $439.0 million and
$184.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease in paid losses and loss
adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 was principally due to a decrease in property catastrophe paid
losses. The increase in paid losses and loss adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 was principally due
to an increase in property catastrophe paid losses. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, paid losses and
loss adjustment expenses related to current year catastrophe events were $17.9 million, $227.3 million, and $48.9 million,
respectively.

The disposition of Clearwater’s net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses relates to the transfer of Clearwater to
TIG effective January 1, 2011 (see Note 1). Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses transferred as a part of this
transaction were $484.2 million.

The effects of exchange rate changes on net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses resulted in an increase of
$20.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $38.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 and
an increase of $46.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. The effects of exchange rate changes were attributable
to changes in foreign currency exchange rates for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses in the Americas, EuroAsia
and London Market divisions.

Ceded unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses were $813.6 million, $767.7 million and $952.5 million as of
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase in ceded unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2012 was principally attributable to an increase in unpaid reinsurance recoverables in the U.S.
Insurance division. The decrease in ceded unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses for the year ended December 31,
2011 was principally attributable to a $264.6 million decrease in unpaid reinsurance recoverables related to the transfer of
ownership of Clearwater on January 1, 2011 (see Note 1).
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The Company uses tabular reserving for workers’ compensation indemnity loss reserves, which are considered to be
fixed and determinable, and discounts such reserves using an interest rate of 3.5%. Workers’ compensation indemnity loss
reserves have been discounted using the Life Table for Total Population: United States, 2004. Reserves reported at the
discounted value were $61.4 million and $80.2 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The decrease in
discounted reserves was principally due to a commutation during the year ended December 31, 2012. The amount of case
reserve discount was $26.1 million and $39.1 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The amount of
incurred but not reported reserve discount was $17.6 million and $15.0 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

7. Asbestos and Environmental Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

As a result of the transfer of ownership of Clearwater to TIG on January 1, 2011 (see Note 1), the Company is no
longer materially exposed to asbestos and/or environmental claims and accordingly no longer establishes a specific reserve
for such exposures.

The Company’s reserves for asbestos and environmental-related liabilities displayed below are related to business
written by Clearwater prior to 1986. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company has no specific reserve for asbestos
and environmental unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses. The Company’s asbestos and environmental reserve
development, gross and net of reinsurance, for the year ended December 31, 2010 is set forth in the table below (in
thousands):

Asbestos Environmental

Gross unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, beginning of year ........ccocccvvevvevererennenen. $ 386,735 $ 27,142
Add: Gross incurred losses and 10ss adjustment €Xpenses ......coceceveeererirereeereeeereeereseeeeees 73,800 10,653
Less: Gross calendar year paid losses and loss adjustment eXpenses ......ccoceeeeeeeeereeerrereennnns 51,136 4,179
Gross unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, end of year ........c.oeeeennirecncncnnnee $ 409,399 $ 33,616

Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, beginning of year . 8 241,572 $ 23,885
Add: Net incurred losses and loss adjustment eXpenses ........c..occceeeeeeeeenenes 44,400 8,842
Less: Net calendar year paid losses and loss adjustment expenses ...........c...... 34,191 3,784
Net unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses, end of year .......cccoevveereeerecreniccnenne. $ 251,781 $ 28,943

Net incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for asbestos claims increased $44.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase in net incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses was principally attributable to the
annual reviews of claim activity and loss emergence trend information obtained in the calendar periods from ceding
companies and other industry sources. Upon consideration of this new loss emergence information received in 2010, the
Company revised its loss development assumptions used in its asbestos loss reserving analyses, which had the effect of
increasing the asbestos loss estimates for calendar year 2010.

Net incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses for environmental claims increased $8.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase in net incurred losses and loss adjustment expense was principally attributable to the
annual review of claim activity and loss emergence trend information obtained in the calendar year from ceding companies.

8. Reinsurance and Retrocessions

The Company utilizes reinsurance and retrocessional agreements to reduce and spread the risk of loss on its insurance
and reinsurance business and to limit exposure to multiple claims arising from a single occurrence. The Company is subject
to accumulation risk with respect to catastrophic events involving multiple treaties, facultative certificates and insurance
policies. To protect against these risks, the Company purchases catastrophe excess of loss protection. The retention, the
level of capacity purchased, the geographical scope of the coverage and the costs vary from year to year. Additionally, the
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Company purchases specific protections related to the insurance business underwritten by its London Market and
U.S. Insurance divisions.

There is a credit risk with respect to reinsurance, which would result in the Company recording a charge to earnings in
the event that such reinsuring companies are unable, at some later date, to meet their obligations under the reinsurance
agreements in force. Reinsurance recoverables are recorded as assets and a reserve for uncollectible reinsurance
recoverables is established based on the Company’s evaluation of each reinsurer’s or retrocessionaire’s ability to meet its
obligations under the agreements. Premiums written and earned are stated net of reinsurance ceded in the consolidated
statements of operations. Direct, reinsurance assumed, reinsurance ceded and net amounts for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 follow (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Premiums Written
DIIECT vttt ettt et et eate e eat e e ereeeeaeeenees $ 943,166 $ 892,801 $ 758,094
Add: @SSUMEA ... 1,830,052 1,527,943 1,409,244
LeSS: CeACd i 370,873 331,019 313,540
Nt ettt ettt et e e e eaaeaeas $ 2,402,345 $ 2,089,725 $ 1,853,798
Premiums Earned
DITECT e $ 997,169 $ 854,934 $ 789,749
Add: @SSUMEA ... 1,695,434 1,480,403 1,411,227
LesS: CeAed ..ovviiiiiiiiiiiiie e 377,327 320,632 315,262
Nt ittt e e e e e e e e eaaeeeaas $ 2,315,276 $ 2,014,705 $ 1,885,714

The total amount of reinsurance recoverable on paid and unpaid losses as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was
$0.9 billion and $0.8 billion, respectively. The reserve for uncollectible reinsurance recoverable was $19.9 million and
$17.5 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and has been netted against reinsurance recoverables on
loss payments in the consolidated balance sheets.

In accordance with the terms of certain of its reinsurance agreements, the Company has recorded interest expense
associated with its ceded reinsurance agreements of $2.1 million, $3.0 million and $3.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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9. Reinsurance Recoverables

The Company’s ten largest reinsurers represent 67.0% of its total reinsurance recoverables as of December 31, 2012.
Amounts due from all other reinsurers are diversified, with no other individual reinsurer representing more than $23.3
million, or 2.7%, of reinsurance recoverables as of December 31, 2012, and the average balance is less than $5.0 million.
The Company held total collateral of $109.0 million as of December 31, 2012, representing 12.5% of total reinsurance
recoverables. The following table shows the total amount that is recoverable from each of the Company’s ten largest
reinsurers for paid and unpaid losses as of December 31, 2012, the amount of collateral held, and each reinsurer’s
A.M. Best rating (in thousands):

Reinsurance % of A.M. Best

Reinsurer Recoverable Total Collateral Rating
LIOYA'S .t $ 167,506 19.1%  $ - A
Federal Crop Ins Corporation..........eceeeeeeienieeeeeenierienieeneane 114,560 13.2 - NR
Alterra Bermuda Ltd..........ccoooooeiieiiiiiiceeceeeceeeeeees 52,122 6.0 10,819 A
Ullico Casualty COmpPany ........ccccoeeeeeeeerienieeieienieee e 50,073 5.8 50,073 B
Everest Re (Bermuda) Ltd.........coocoeeieieiinieieiiiececeees 48,292 5.6 - A+
Munich Reinsurance AMETriCa......c..cocevueeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeenns 37,433 4.3 - A+
Transatlantic Re........c.cooveeuieeieoeiiieeeeeceeeeeeeee e 33,095 3.8 - A
Alterra Reinsurance US.........cocooioiiiiioieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 27,562 3.2 - A
Riverstone Ins Ltd (a Fairfax subsidiary)... 26,516 3.1 - NR
Lexington Insurance Co.......ccceeeeveereeeennnnee. 25,002 2.9 - A

SUD-LOLAL . 582,161 67.0 60,892
ATTOTRET e 286,928 33.0 48,107

TOLAL e $ 869,089 100.0 %  § 108,999

Reinsurance recoverables were $848.1 million and collateral was $141.9 million, or 16.7% of the reinsurance
recoverable balance, as of December 31, 2011.

Several individual reinsurers are part of the same corporate group. The following table shows the five largest
aggregate amounts that are recoverable from all individual entities that form part of the same corporate group as of
December 31, 2012 and the amount of collateral held from each group (in thousands):

Reinsurance % of

Reinsurer Recoverable Total Collateral
LIoyd's OF LONAON ...cvvviiecicececicicecieeececeeee s $ 167,506 191 % $ -
Federal Crop Ins Corp.. 114,560 13.2 -
Alterra HOldings Ltd......ocoooiiiieieieeee e 79,684 9.2 10,819
UIHCO TNC ettt 50,073 5.8 50,073
Everest Re HOIdINES INC..eiuiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeee e 49,518 5.8 -
SUDLOLAL .ot 461,341 53.1 60,892
ATLOTRET ettt naenes 407,748 46.9 48,107
0 7 USSP $ 869,089 100.0 % $ 108,999
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The Company is the beneficiary of letters of credit, cash and other forms of collateral to secure certain amounts due
from its reinsurers. The total amount of collateral held by the Company as of December 31, 2012 is $109.0 million, which
represents 12.5% of the total amount of reinsurance recoverables, comprised of the following forms of collateral (in
thousands):

% of
Form of Collateral Collateral Recoverables
LEtEEIS OF CIEAIE ...eoveievieieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt et e s e eaeeaeeasenseneeeneeseeaeensenseneneens $ 49,028 5.6 %
Funds withheld fromreinsurers 3,247 04
Trust agreements .......c.cceceeeeevenene 56,724 6.5
TOTAL 1.ttt ettt ettt b ettt et et bt et e bt e b e st se s s e s et e b e s eneeseese st ese s eneesans $ 108,999 12.5 %

Each reinsurance contract between the Company and the reinsurer describes the losses that are covered under the
contract and terms upon which payments are to be made. The Company generally has the ability to utilize collateral to settle
unpaid balances due under its reinsurance contracts when it determines that the reinsurer has not met its contractual
obligations. Letters of credit are for the sole benefit of the Company to support the obligations of the reinsurer, providing
the Company with the unconditional ability, in its sole discretion, to draw upon the letters of credit in support of any unpaid
amounts due under the relevant contracts. Cash and investments supporting funds withheld from reinsurers are included in
the Company’s invested assets. Funds withheld from reinsurers are typically used to automatically offset payments due to
the Company in accordance with the terms of the relevant reinsurance contracts. Amounts held under trust agreements are
typically comprised of cash and investment grade fixed income securities and are not included in the Company’s invested
assets. The ability of the Company to draw upon funds held under trust agreements to satisfy any unpaid amounts due under
the relevant reinsurance contracts is typically unconditional and at the sole discretion of the Company.

10. Debt Obligations, Common Shares, Preferred Shares and Non-Controlling Interest

Debt Obligations

The components of the Company’s debt obligations as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
7.65% Senior Notes due 2013 ....ociiiiiiiiiiiieeeee et $ 182,419 $ 181,929
6.875% Senior Notes due 2015 ....ooviiiiiiicieeieeeeeeee et 124,381 124,117
Series A Floating Rate Senior Debentures due 2021 ........ccooevieirininininiieieieene 50,000 50,000
Series B Floating Rate Senior Debentures due 2016 ........ccoooevvierieiieiienieieeeieeeeee 50,000 50,000
Series C Floating Rate Senior Debentures due 2021 ........ccooevivivieineneneneeeeenene 40,000 40,000
RevoIvINg 1iNe OF CrEdIt ..cuveuieeieieiieieieieeeeeee e 2,163 -
Total debt ODIIGATIONS .....cvvevieeieiierieiieieieteeet ettt ettt b sbe e nes $ 448,963 $ 446,046

The Company and Fairfax (US) have entered into a $350.0 million two-way revolving credit facility, under which
either party may borrow up to $350.0 million from the other party. Loans under the facility are unsecured and bear interest
at a rate of 7.5% per annum, payable quarterly, and the principal amount is payable on demand. Either party may terminate
the facility at any time upon demand, at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest shall become due. As of
December 31, 2012, the Company’s outstanding obligation under the revolving credit facility was $2.2 million.
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On November 28, 2006, the Company completed the private sale of $40.0 million aggregate principal amount of
floating rate senior debentures, Series C, due December 15, 2021 (the “Series C Notes™). Interest on the Series C Notes
accrues at a rate per annum equal to the three-month London Interbank Offer Rate (“LIBOR?”), reset quarterly, plus 2.50%,
and is payable quarterly in arrears on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year. The Company has
the option to redeem the Series C Notes at par, plus accrued and unpaid interest, in whole or in part on any interest payment
date. For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the average annual interest rate on the Series C Notes was 2.96%
and 2.81%, respectively.

On February 22, 2006, the Company issued $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of floating rate senior
debentures, pursuant to a private placement. The net proceeds from the offering, after fees and expenses, were
$99.3 million. The debentures were sold in two tranches: $50.0 million of Series A, due March 15, 2021 (the “Series A
Notes”), and $50.0 million of Series B, due March 15, 2016 (the “Series B Notes”). Interest on each series of debentures is
due quarterly in arrears on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15 of each year. The interest rate on each series
of debentures is equal to the three-month LIBOR, reset quarterly, plus 2.20%. The Series A and Series B Notes are callable
by the Company on any interest payment date at their par value, plus accrued and unpaid interest. For the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the average annual interest rate on each series of notes was 2.66% and 2.51%, respectively.

During the second quarter of 2005, the Company issued $125.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes due
May 1, 2015. The issue was sold at a discount of $0.8 million, which is being amortized over the life of the notes. Interest
accrues on the senior notes at a fixed rate of 6.875% per annum, which is due semi-annually on May 1 and November 1.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company issued $225.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes due
November 1, 2013 (the “2013 Notes”). The issue was sold at a discount of $0.4 million, which is being amortized over the
life of the notes. Interest accrues on the senior notes at a fixed rate of 7.65% per annum, which is due semi-annually on
May 1 and November 1.

During the second quarter of 2011, the Company extinguished $42.2 million of its 2013 Notes by paying $47.8
million to the holders of the notes. Including the write-off of a pro-rata portion of the unamortized issuance and discount
costs of $0.5 million, the Company recognized a $6.1 million loss on this early extinguishment.

As of December 31, 2012, the aggregate stated maturities of the Company’s debt obligations, at face value, were as
follows (in thousands):

December 31,

Year 2012
20 3 e e e et e e e —eeeee——eeeet—teeee—eeeei——eeeatteeeeaaeeeaiateeeaateeeearaeeeanrraeeeareeeaanes $ 182,827
20 S et e e —— e ee—— e e ettt eee——eeeea——eeea——eeeea—eeeaiateeeaataeeeaabeeeaatraeeeareeeeaans 125,000
20T 0. e e e ee et e ee——ee e ettt e e e ——eeaa——eeeeaaeeeeiateeeaateeeearaeeeaatraeeeareeeaanns 50,000
202 T e et — e e ——eeee——eeee——eeeea—ee e ettt eaa——eeeeaaeeeaiateeeaateeeeaaeeeeaatraeeaareeeaaans 90,000
o] 72 TSROSO RRRORRRTN $ 447,827

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has sufficient cash and invested assets at the holding company level to fully
fund its debt service requirements for 2013.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the amortized cost of the Company’s debt obligations was $449.0 million and
$446.0 million, respectively, as reflected in the respective consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
the estimated fair value of the Company’s debt obligations was $463.3 million and $455.5 million, respectively. The
estimated fair value is based on quoted market prices of the Company’s debt, where available, and for debt similar to the
Company’s, and discounted cash flow calculations.
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On July 13, 2007, the Company entered into a five year $200.0 million credit facility (subsequently amended to
$100.0 million) (the “Credit Agreement”) with a syndicate of lenders. The Credit Agreement was available for direct,
unsecured borrowings by the Company and the issuance of secured letters of credit to support the Company’s insurance and
reinsurance business. The Credit Agreement expired on July 13, 2012 and was not renewed. All letters of credits
previously issued under the Credit Agreement have been terminated. As of December 31, 2012, no obligations or balances
remain outstanding under the credit facility. As of December 31, 2011, there was $34.3 million outstanding under the
Credit Agreement, all of which was in support of secured letters of credit.

In December 2008, the Company entered into interest rate swaps, with an aggregate notional value of $140.0 million,
to protect it from adverse movements in interest rates. Under these swap contracts, the Company receives a floating interest
rate of three-month LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate of 2.49% on the $140.0 million notional value of the contracts, for
a five-year period ending in December 2013.

Common Shares

On December 21, 2010, the Company filed a certificate of amendment to its amended and restated certificate of
incorporation with the State of Delaware. The certificate of amendment, which was approved by the Company’s
shareholders and Board of Directors, reduced the number of authorized shares of capital stock of the Company to 1,260,000
shares, consisting of 60,000 shares of common stock, par value $10.00 per share, and 1,200,000 shares of preferred stock,
par value $0.01 per share. Prior to the filing of the certificate of amendment, the Company’s authorized capital stock
consisted of 700,000,000 shares (500,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 200,000,000 shares
of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share). Upon the effectiveness of the certificate of amendment, the Company
effected a 1 for 1,000 share reverse stock split of its common shares, such that each 1,000 shares of the Company’s old
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, automatically were combined and reclassified into one (1) share of the
Company’s new common stock, par value $10.00 per share.

On January 1, 2011, the Company transferred ownership of Clearwater to TIG, in exchange for 5,921 common shares
of the Company held by TIG. The 5,921 common shares reacquired by the Company from TIG were subsequently retired
(see Note 1).

The Company did not declare or pay any common stock dividends during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010.

Preferred Shares

The Company’s 8.125% Series A preferred shares (253,599 shares outstanding) have a liquidation preference of $25.00
per share and are redeemable at $25.00 per share at the Company’s option, in whole, or in part from time to time, on or
after October 20, 2010. Dividends on the Company’s floating rate Series B preferred shares (70,000 shares outstanding) are
payable at an annual rate equal to 3.25% above the three-month LIBOR on the applicable quarterly determination date. The
Series B preferred shares have a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share and are redeemable at the Company’s option, in
whole or in part from time to time, at the redemption prices below (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Redemption Price

Period Per Share In Aggregate
October 20, 2010 through October 19, 2011 ......cooviiiiiiieeieeee e $ 25.375 $ 1,776
October 20, 2011 through October 19, 2012 ........coeiiiiieeieeee e 25.250 1,768
October 20, 2012 through October 19, 2013 ......coooiiiieeeeeeee e 25.125 1,759
October 20, 2013 and ther€after ...........oovviviiiieeeeeeeeeeeee et 25.000 1,750

On October 20, 2010, the Company redeemed for cash all of the issued and outstanding shares of its Series A and
Series B preferred stock not owned by affiliates, at a per share redemption price of $25.00 and $25.375, respectively. The
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total redemption cost of the Series A and Series B preferred shares for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $43.6 million
and $27.0 million, respectively. As a result of the redemption of the Series A and Series B preferred shares, the Company
recorded a loss of $2.2 million during 2010, which amount was reflected in the Company’s retained earnings and included
in net income available to common shareholders.

Dividends on each series of preferred shares are deferrable on a non-cumulative basis, provided that no dividends or
other distributions have been declared or paid or set apart for payment on any other class or series of the Company’s capital
shares ranking junior to or equal with the preferred shares. Dividends on Series A and Series B preferred shares will each
be payable when, as and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors, quarterly in arrears on the 20th day of January,
April, July, and October of each year. Deferred dividends on either series will not accrue interest prior to the date of
redemption. On December 13, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors declared quarterly dividends of $0.5078125 per
share on the Company’s 8.125% Series A preferred shares and $0.223046875 per share on the Company’s floating rate
Series B preferred shares. The total dividends of $0.1 million were paid on January 22, 2013 to Series A and Series B
preferred shareholders of record on December 31, 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, ORC purchased 33,700 shares of the Company’s Series B preferred shares
with a liquidation preference of $0.8 million for a purchase price of $0.8 million. As a result of the purchase of the Series B
preferred shares, the Company recorded a gain of less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, which was
reflected in the Company’s retained earnings and included in net income available to common shareholders.

As of December 31, 2012, a subsidiary of Fairfax owned 253,599 shares and 70,000 shares of the Company’s Series A
and Series B preferred stock, respectively, and ORC owned 866,437 shares of the Company’s Series B preferred stock.
The shares owned by ORC have been eliminated in these consolidated financial statements.

Non-Controlling Interest

Clearwater holds all 23,807 shares of Hudson’s 5.5% Series A preferred stock with a liquidation preference of $1,000
per share and an aggregate book value of $23.8 million, and all 5,492 shares of Clearwater Select’s 5.5% Series A preferred
stock, with a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share and an aggregate book value of $5.5 million. On October 9, 2012,
Clearwater Select’s Board of Directors declared a preferred dividend to Clearwater in the amount of $0.3 million. On
October 9, 2012, Hudson’s Board of Directors declared a preferred dividend to Clearwater in the amount of $1.3 million.
Both dividends were paid on October 22, 2012. The aggregate amount of the preferred shares of Hudson and Clearwater
Select owned by Clearwater is presented on the balance sheet as non-controlling interest in the amount of $29.3 million.
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11. Segment Reporting

The Company’s operations are managed through four operating divisions: Americas, EuroAsia, London Market and
U.S. Insurance. The Americas division is comprised of the Company’s reinsurance operations in the United States, Canada
and Latin America, and writes property and casualty reinsurance business on a treaty and facultative basis. The EuroAsia
division writes treaty reinsurance business. The London Market division operates through three distribution channels:
Newline Syndicate (1218) at Lloyd’s and NICL, which focus on casualty insurance, and the London branch of ORC, which
focuses on worldwide property and casualty reinsurance. The U.S. Insurance division writes specialty insurance lines and
classes of business, such as medical professional liability, professional liability, crop and commercial automobile.

The financial results of these divisions for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows (in

thousands):

Year Ended December 31,2012
Gross premiums written
Net premiums written
Net premiums eamned
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Acquisition costs and other underwriting

expenses
Total underwriting deductions

Underwriting income (loss)

Net investment income
Net realized investment gains

Other expense, net

Interest expense
Income before income taxes

Underwriting ratios:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Acquisition costs and other underwriting

expenses

Combined ratio

Year Ended December 31, 2011
Gross premiums written
Net premiums written
Net premiums earned
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Acquisition costs and other underwriting

expenses
Total underwriting deductions

Underwriting income (loss)

Net investment income
Net realized investment gains
Other expense, net
Interest expense
Loss on early extinguishment of debt........ccccooeiviiniiicnes

Loss before income taxes

Underwriting ratios:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses
Acquisition costs and other underwriting

expenses

Combined ratio

London uU.s.
Americas EuroAsia Market Insurance Total
$ 1,125,282 $ 585,883 $ 332,931 $ 729,122 $ 2,773,218
1,062,438 579,813 273,358 486,736 2,402,345
$ 947,872 $ 583,524 $ 278,738 $ 505,142 $ 2,315,276
544,339 310,147 176,692 383,289 1,414,467
285,732 139,360 74,361 138,876 638,329
830,071 449,507 251,053 522,165 2,052,796
$ 117,801 $ 134,017 $ 27,685 $ (17,023) 262,480
162,168
64,746
(3,531)
(27,689)
$ 458,174
574 % 532 % 634 % 759 % 61.1 %
30.2 23.8 26.7 27.5 27.6
87.6 % 77.0 % 90.1 % 103.4 % 88.7 %
London u.s.
Americas EuroAsia Market Insurance Total
$ 792,715 $ 607,402 $ 360,374 660,253 $ 2,420,744
783,206 585,950 304,147 416,422 2,089,725
$ 754,428 $ 565,730 $ 301,519 393,028 $ 2,014,705
462,014 829,806 220,591 299,931 1,812,342
230,998 138,141 74,512 97,881 541,532
693,012 967,947 295,103 397,812 2,353,874
$ 61,416 $ (402217)  $ 6416 (4,784) (339,169)
284,161
65,772
(62,734)
(28,924)
(6,121)
$ (87,015)
612 % 146.7 % 732 % 763 % 90.0 %
30.7 24.4 24.7 24.9 26.8
919 % 171.1 % 979 % 101.2 % 116.8 %
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London U.S.
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Americas EuroAsia Market Insurance Total
Gross premiums written $ 747,382 $ 538,614 $ 339,039 $ 542,303 $ 2,167,338
Net premiums written 724,840 518,869 288,188 321,901 1,853,798
Net premiums earned $ 726,978 $ 520,282 $ 292,952 $ 345,502 $ 1,885,714
Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses ........cocceceeeecenens 581,057 348,084 178,991 208,921 1,317,053
Acquisition costs and other underwriting
expenses 228,713 131,819 78,033 102,883 541,448
Total underwriting deductions 809,770 479,903 257,024 311,804 1,858,501
Underwriting (loss) income $ (82,792) $ 40,379 $ 35,928 $ 33,698 27,213
Net investment income 327,875
Net realized investment Sains .......c..cccceeeeereecineeeccnenens 170,349
Other expense, net (63,591)
Interest expense (30,464)
Income before iNCOME taXes .....occveeveeveveeueerereeiieieeiens $ 431,382
Underwriting ratios:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses .........cccceeeue 799 % 66.9 % 6l.1 % 60.5 % 69.8 %
Acquisition costs and other underwriting
expenses 31.5 25.3 26.6 29.8 28.8
Combined ratio 1114 % 922 % 87.7 % 90.3 % 98.6 %
Gross Premiums Written by Major Unit/Division
(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
UNIEA STALES ..vevvenieiiieiieiceeiercer ettt $ 860,800 $ 601,976 $ 561,048
Latin AIMNETICA ...oeovviieie ettt et eeennes 182,834 123,144 129,280
CANAAA ...ttt 81,648 67,595 57,054
TOtal AMETICAS ...ccvveeieveeeieeetee ettt 1,125,282 792,715 747,382
BUIOASIA L.ttt 585,883 607,402 538,614
London Market .........ccocoiiiiiiiiiiiecee e 332,931 360,374 339,039
VLS. INSUTANCE ..ottt et 729,122 660,253 542,303
Total gross premiums WITHEN ......c.coveveeerieririeieeeieeriee e $ 2,773,218 $ 2,420,744 $ 2,167,338

62



ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Gross Premiums Written by Type of Business/Business Unit
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Americas
Property eXcess 0f 10SS ...o.eeiruirieiiiieieeeee e $ 311,052 $ 272,367 210,332
Property proportional ............ccoceieereiniieeeeee e 429,655 133,069 128,717
Property facultative .........coooeereiiieeeee e 36,294 29,232 22,285
SUbtOtal PrOPEILY ..o.veeeeieiiieieiieeiee e 777,001 434,668 361,334
Casualty eXcess OF 0SS ..vivuiiiiiiieiieieeeeee s 165,290 159,976 173,546
Casualty proportional ..........cc.evuevueeieieieierieseee e 54,207 55,356 89,385
Casualty facultative .........ccevieieieieieeeee e 42,965 41,527 49,400
SUbtotal CASUAILY .vvevveiiiieiieeieieteee e 262,462 256,859 312,331
Marineg and @ETOSPACE ....cvevvirveereerierieietesresteereeseessessessesreeseeseesessesresseans 25,052 26,860 21,275
Surety and CTEAIt .....ovvivvievierieieieieieee ettt 46,223 51,824 52,442
OBHET LINES ..ttt ettt saee e 14,544 22,504 -
TOtal AIMETICAS ..oeeievieeeietiiee ettt e e etae e e eaeaeeeennes 1,125,282 792,715 747,382
EuroAsia
Property eXcess 0F 10SS ..uviieriiriiriieiieieieie e 234,208 232,237 192,871
Property proportional ..........cc.eceeeeieierieniiee e s 195,076 183,728 175,018
Property facultatiVve .......cccveierieriiiieieeeeeese e - 35 (4)
SUDLOLA]l PIOPETLY ..evvieierieiieieeieeieeeee et 429,284 416,000 367,885
Casualty eXcesS 0F 10SS ..oviriiriiieieieieicee e e 54,471 62,764 60,376
Casualty proportional ..........ccceceeeeierierienieseee e 13,884 25,927 26,598
Subtotal CASUAILY ..veveeiiieiieieieieee e e 68,355 88,691 86,974
Marine and AETOSPACE ....everveereerieieieierieereettesteiestestestesseesseseensesresreeseens 45,417 48,192 39,327
Surety and CTEAIt ......ovvivvieieieieieieeeeeee e 42,827 54,519 44,428
Total BUIOASIA ...cevivvieeieeie ettt 585,883 607,402 538,614
London Market
Property eXcess 0F 10SS ..c.veviriiiieieieieiee s 64,359 79,009 76,412
Property proportional ..........cceeeeeeieierienieeeeeeeee s 731 905 907
SUDLOLAl PIOPETLY ..ooveeeerieiieieeiieieeeee ettt s 65,090 79,914 77,319
Casualty eXcesSs 0F 10SS ..oviiiirieieieieieeieeeeeee e 8,214 8,146 5,908
Casualty proportional ..........ccceeeeeeierienienieeeeeeeieee e (113) (87) 661
Subtotal CASUAILY ...vevveeeieeieiieieieeee e e 8,101 8,059 6,569
Marine and AETOSPACE ....everviereereerieieierteeteetterteie e ste e seeesaeneensesresreeneens 45,696 39,853 39,360
TOtal TEINSUTANCE ...ccvvieeeveieiee ettt eae e et eeaee e 118,887 127,826 123,248
LIability TINES .eovievieiieieiecieeeee e e 212,262 229,101 209,536
ONET ettt ettt ettt 1,782 3,447 6,255
TOtal INSULANICE ...veeivveeieeieeieeeeeeee ettt et eaeeeae e eeareeeaneeenes 214,044 232,548 215,791
Total London Market ...........cocveovviiiiiiiiiiieeeceee e 332,931 360,374 339,039
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Gross Premiums Written by Type of Business/Business Unit

(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

U.S. Insurance
Property and package ...........cccevviriieieninieeeeeeese, 276,171 210,339 158,779
Professional lHability ..........cccceeeeienieieeeeseseee 170,581 150,316 121,438
Specialty Hability ........ccooovviviviiiiceccceeee s 134,818 129,545 110,044
Medical professional liability ...........cccoovivvivniririiiiicccees 67,232 91,691 88,560
Commercial automobile ............cocveveveeierereriieeeeieeeeeeea, 74,514 71,188 55,519
Personal automobile ...........coovevvevieiiiiiiiceieeeeeeee e 5,806 7,174 7,963
Total U.S. INSUTANCE ......oovvviviieiicecieceeceeeeeeee e, 729,122 660,253 542,303
Total gross premiums Written ............cccovveverveeveererirrrennn. $ 2,773,218 $ 2420744 $ 2,167,338

The Company does not maintain separate balance sheet data for each of its operating segments. Accordingly, the
Company does not review and evaluate the financial results of its operating segments based upon balance sheet data.

12. Federal and Foreign Income Taxes

The components of the federal and foreign income tax provision (benefit) included in the consolidated statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Current:
UNIEA STALES .oueevevivieiiieieieeiit ettt s st seaens $ 10937 $ 17,509  $ 31,870
FOTCIZN ottt ns 71,678 67,432 83,365
Total current iINCOME taX PIOVISION ...oueuveveeeeiieeiieiiieieeieeeeeeeeaeeeeene 82,615 84,941 115,235
Deferred:
UNIEA STALES .ouvvvieieiiieieeeeiiet ettt ettt esees 87,208 (104,650) (18,301)
FOTCIZN oottt nas 5,838 (1,343) 1,173
Total deferred income tax provision (benefit) ........ccocoveeveirireennnee 93,046 (105,993) (17,128)
Total federal and foreign income tax provision (benefit) ........... $ 175,661  $ (21,052) $ 98,107
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Deferred federal and foreign income taxes reflect the tax impact of temporary differences between the amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such amounts as measured by tax laws and regulations.
Components of federal and foreign income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows (in
thousands):

2012 2011
Unpaid losses and 10ss adjustment €XPenses ........c..eevueeeereerueeieeeesiesieeneeeneeseeenneas $ 144,554 $ 154,362
UNEArned PIEMUIUITIS .......eeetieiiieeiieiieeete ettt e siceeteeeteeeeeeenteeeneeessteesneeeeeeeseeenneeennens 46,176 39,226
Reserve for potentially uncollectible balances ...........ccccovevviverieenieenieeiie e 5,037 6,061
Pension and benefit aCCrualsS ..........oooviiiiiiiiiiiiii e 17,497 15,000
TNVESTIMENLS ..t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeans 116,751 206,326
Alternative minimum taxX CTEAIt......c..uuviiiiiiiiiiiiiii et 21,154 10,064
FOreign tax CrEit .o.uieiiiiiie ettt et et saeeentee e e snne e 125,478 115,843
OBRET oot - 387
Total deferred taxX @SSELS .......cocueeiiieeeeeee e 476,647 547,269
Deferred acqUiSTtION COSES ...ouiiiiiiririireriieeitieerieesiteeseeeseeeeiteetaeesaeeesseeesaeeseeensaeenenes 56,633 44,226
Foreign deferred 1LeMS .........ooiiiiiiiiie ettt 40,866 35,028
Subsidiary net 0perating loSS..........cecuviieiieeiieiiieeieerie e 33,604 33,604
(13T TR 4,179 -
Total deferred tax HabilIties ......cccvvvveiieiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 135,282 112,858
Net deferred tAX ASSEES ..uvvviiiiiii it e e e e e eaaeeee e 341,365 434,411
Deferred income taxes on accumulated other comprehensive income ................... (267,291) (204,990)
Deferred federal and foreign income tax asSet ........c.eceveeeevierieeriieerieeieeeieesree e 74,074 229,421
Current federal and foreign income tax (payable) asset ........cccceevierieeiiienieennnes. (25,916) 2,103
Federal and foreign income taxes receivable ..........cocvevvviieiieiiieciieciceee e $ 48,158 $ 231,524

The following table reconciles federal and foreign income taxes at the statutory federal income tax rate to the
Company’s tax provision and effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
% of % of % of
Pre-tax Pre-tax Pre-tax
Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income
Income before income taxes .......... $ 458,174 $ (87,015) $ 431,382

Income tax provision
computed at the U.S. statutory
taxrate on iNCOMe .......c.c.c...... $ 160,361 35.0 % $ (30,455 350 % $ 150,984 35.0 %
(Decrease) increase in income
taxes resulting from:

Dividend received deduction (3,050) 0.7) (3,673) 42 (6,036) (1.4)
Tax-exempt income .................. (32,263) (7.0) (29,402) 33.8 (37,649) 8.7)
Foreign taxexpense................. 44213 9.6 41,394 (47.6) - -
Other, net ...cooeveeeeeerieeeenene 6,400 1.4 1,084 (1.2) (9,192) (2.2)
Total federal and foreign
income tax provision ..... $ 175,661 383 % $ (21,052) 242 % $ 98,107 22.7 %
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Domestic pre-tax income was $98.9 million, $286.5 million and $298.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Foreign pre-tax income (loss) was $359.3 million, $(373.5) million and $133.4 million
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company has elected to expense foreign taxes in its federal tax return for the years ended December 31, 2012 and
2011. For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company elected to credit foreign taxes. The Company’s foreign tax
expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 is net of an $11.1 million benefit generated by the application of the United
Kingdom group relief regime.

The Company is included in the United States tax group of Fairfax (US). The method of allocation among the
companies is subject to a written agreement. Tax payments are made to, or refunds received from, Fairfax (US) in amounts
equal to the amounts as if separate tax returns were filed with federal taxing authorities.

The Company paid federal and foreign income taxes of $55.4 million, $51.3 million and $179.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. As of December 31, 2012, the Company had a current tax payable
of $25.9 million, which reflects $18.4 million payable to Fairfax (US) and a net payable of $7.5 million to various foreign
governments. As of December 31, 2011, the Company had a current tax receivable of $2.1 million, which reflects $5.3
million receivable from Fairfax (US) and a net payable of $3.2 million to various foreign governments.

The Company files income tax returns with various federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s U.S.
federal income tax returns for tax years prior to 2009 are closed. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) is expected to
complete their audit of the Company’s 2009 through 2011 tax returns and commence their audit of the Company’s 2012
and 2013 tax returns during 2013. Effective for the 2013 tax year, the Company will participate in the IRS’s Compliance
Assurance Program (“CAP”). Under CAP, the IRS begins their examination of the tax year before the tax return is filed.
The goal of CAP is to expedite the exam process and reduce the level of uncertainty regarding a taxpayer’s filing positions
by examining significant transactions and events as they occur. The IRS has not proposed any material adjustments as part
of the Company’s ongoing examinations. Income tax returns filed with various state and foreign jurisdictions remain open
to examination in accordance with individual statutes.

The Company has elected to recognize accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as part of
the income tax provision. The Company does not have any material unrecognized tax benefits and, accordingly, has not
recognized any accrued interest or penalties associated with uncertain tax positions.

13. Commitments and Contingencies
(a) Contingencies

Plumbers & Pipefitters Union v. Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited, Odyssey Re Holdings Corp., et al. This
securities class action was filed on July 25, 2011 as a replacement of the Parks suit (dismissed on May 24, 2011) in an
effort to cure the jurisdictional problems that led to the dismissal of the Parks matter. As with Parks, the matter was filed
in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of New York. Several of Fairfax’s officers and directors, including some who
are current or former directors of the Company, were also named as defendants in the suit. The suit, which purported to be
filed on behalf of purchasers of Fairfax's securities between and including May 21, 2003 and March 22, 2006, alleged that
Fairfax and the Company violated federal securities laws by making material misstatements or failing to disclose certain
material information. A motion to dismiss all claims was filed in December of 2011. The motion to dismiss was granted
with prejudice in August 2012 by the Southern District. In September 2012, plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal with the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. In October 2012, plaintiffs withdrew the appeal and stipulated to the voluntary
dismissal with prejudice of the appeal, which was approved by the Second Circuit. The case is now closed.

Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited v. S.A.C. Capital Mgt., et al. — This suit was filed by Fairfax in July 2006 in the
Superior Court, Morris County, New Jersey, seeking damages from a number of defendants who, the complaint alleges,
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participated in a stock market manipulation scheme involving Fairfax shares. The complaint was subsequently amended to
add additional allegations and two defendants. The Company was not originally a party to the suit. On January 25, 2008,
two named defendants filed an answer and amended counterclaim, seeking unspecified damages, and naming OdysseyRe as
a third party defendant. Defendants alleged, among other things, that the Company engaged in a fraudulent tax scheme as
part of a broad conspiracy by Fairfax to retaliate against short sellers of Fairfax securities. As a result of motion practice
during the course of 2008, on September 8, 2008, the defendants filed an amended counterclaim and third-party complaint
that again named the Company and certain directors as defendants. In July 2011, the third-party claims against the
Company were voluntarily dismissed without prejudice by those defendants, and no claims remain against the Company.
On September 12, 2012, Fairfax’s claims were dismissed by the court immediately before trial was scheduled to
commence. Fairfax has filed notice of appeal, and certain defendants have filed notices of cross-appeal, which are pending.
The Company is not a party to the pending appeals.

The Company participates in Lloyd’s through its 100% ownership of the capital provider for Newline Syndicate
(1218), for which the Company directly or indirectly provides 100% of the capacity. The results of Newline Syndicate
(1218) are consolidated in the financial statements of the Company. In support of Newline Syndicate (1218)’s capacity at
Lloyd’s, the Company has pledged securities and cash with a fair value of $340.9 million as of December 31, 2012 in a
deposit trust account in favor of the Society and Council of Lloyd’s. The securities may be substituted with other securities
at the discretion of the Company, subject to approval by Lloyd’s. The securities are carried at fair value and are included in
investments and cash in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Interest earned on the securities is included in
investment income. The pledge of assets in support of Newline Syndicate (1218) provides the Company with the ability to
participate in writing business through Lloyd’s, which remains an important part of the Company’s business. The pledged
assets effectively secure the contingent obligations of Newline Syndicate (1218) should it not meet its obligations. The
Company’s contingent liability to the Society and Council of Lloyd’s is limited to the aggregate amount of the pledged
assets. The Company has the ability to remove funds at Lloyd’s annually, subject to certain minimum amounts required to
support outstanding liabilities as determined under risk-based capital models and approved by Lloyd’s. The funds used to
support outstanding liabilities are adjusted annually and the obligations of the Company to support these liabilities will
continue until they are settled or the liabilities are reinsured by a third party approved by Lloyd’s. The Company expects to
continue to actively operate Newline Syndicate (1218) and support its requirements at Lloyd’s. The Company believes that
Newline Syndicate (1218) maintains sufficient liquidity and financial resources to support its ultimate liabilities and the
Company does not anticipate that the pledged assets will be utilized.

ORC agreed to guarantee the performance of all the insurance and reinsurance contract obligations of Compagnie
Transcontinentale de Réassurance (“CTR”), a subsidiary of Fairfax, in the event CTR became insolvent and CTR was not
otherwise indemnified under its guarantee agreement with a Fairfax affiliate. Fairfax has agreed to indemnify ORC for all
its obligations incurred under its guarantee. The Company’s potential exposure in connection with this agreement stems
from CTR’s remaining gross reserves, which are estimated to be $65.7 million as of December 31, 2012. The Company
believes that the financial resources of the Fairfax subsidiaries that have assumed CTR’s liabilities provide adequate
protection to satisfy the obligations that are subject to this guarantee. The Company does not expect to make payments
under this guarantee and does not consider its potential exposure under this guarantee to be material to its consolidated
financial position.

ORC agreed, as of April 1, 2002, to guarantee the payment of all of the insurance contract obligations (the “Subject
Contracts™), whether incurred before or after the agreement, of Falcon Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Falcon”), a subsidiary of Fairfax Asia Limited (“Fairfax Asia”), in the event Falcon becomes insolvent. Fairfax Asia is
100% owned by Fairfax, which includes a 17.4% economic interest owned by the Company. The guarantee by ORC was
made to assist Falcon in writing business through access to ORC’s financial strength ratings and capital resources. ORC is
paid a fee for this guarantee of one quarter of one percent of all gross premiums earned associated with the Subject
Contracts on a quarterly basis. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, Falcon paid $0.1 million, $0.1
million and $0.2 million, respectively, to ORC in connection with this guarantee. ORC’s potential exposure in connection
with this agreement is estimated to be $96.3 million, based on Falcon’s loss reserves at December 31, 2012. Fairfax has
agreed to indemnify ORC for any obligation under this guarantee. The Company believes that the financial resources of
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Falcon provide adequate protection to support its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The Company anticipates
that Falcon will meet all of its obligations in the normal course of business and does not expect to make any payments
under this guarantee. The Company does not consider its potential exposure under this guarantee to be material to its
consolidated financial position.

ORC organized O.R.E Holdings Limited (“ORE”), a corporation domiciled in Mauritius, on December 30, 2003 to act
as a holding company for various investments in India. On January 29, 2004, ORE was capitalized by ORC in the amount
of $16.7 million. ORE is consolidated in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. During 2004, ORE entered into
a joint venture agreement relating to the purchase by ORE of 45% of the shares of Cheran Enterprises Private Limited
(“CEPL”). CEPL is a corporation domiciled in India, that was organized to engage in the purchase, development and sale
of commercial real estate properties. As CEPL never engaged in the planned business operations and as certain funds of
CEPL were diverted by ORE’s joint venture partner, ORC had written down the value of its investment in ORE by $9.9
million. The joint venture agreement governing CEPL contains a provision whereby ORC could have been called upon to
provide a guarantee of a credit facility, if such a facility had been established by CEPL, in an amount up to $65.0 million
for the funding of proposed developments. The credit facility was never established, and the requisite conditions for any
future provision of the guarantee no longer exist. ORE’s joint venture partner claimed that the guarantee should be available
and pursued legal actions against ORC and ORE. ORC and ORE found this claim without merit and vigorously defended
the legal actions, while also bringing an action to recover the invested funds that had been illegally diverted by ORE’s joint
venture partner. On August 13, 2008, the Company Law Board in Chennai, India ruled in ORE’s favor and directed CEPL
to return to ORE the full amount of its investment, plus 8% interest, within the one-year period commencing November 1,
2008, or, in the event that such amount was not paid, to convey to ORE a portion of the real property owned by CEPL’s
subsidiary, Vasantha Mills Limited (“VML”). ORE’s joint venture partner appealed this ruling and it was affirmed by the
High Court in August 2011. As of December 31, 2012, no payment on the award has been made to ORE. ORE filed an
execution petition in the Indian courts to force the transfer of the VML property. This petition is still pending and the date
of the hearing and the resolution remain uncertain. Because no payment of the award has yet been received and the transfer
to ORE of the VML property remains in issue, despite ORE’s vigorous pursuit of this objective, the Company has taken no
steps to reverse the write-downs that have been taken to date.

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved from time to time in ordinary litigation and arbitration proceedings as
part of the Company’s business operations. In the Company’s opinion, the outcome of these suits, individually or
collectively, is not likely to result in judgments that would be material to the financial condition or results of operations of
the Company.

(b) Commitments

The Company and its subsidiaries lease office space and furniture and equipment under long-term operating leases
expiring through the year 2022. Minimum annual rentals follow (in thousands):

Amount

20 3 ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et et e e e eteeete e et e eeteeeaeeeaeean $ 9,336
20Tttt ettt ettt ettt et e e et e et e e et e eteeeaeeeaeean 9,242
2 S ettt ettt e ete e e —eeete e e teeeteeteeetteeteeeateeateseteeateeeteeeneeeaeaas 8,956
2006, ettt ettt e ete e e teeteeete et e eteeetteetaeetteeeteeeteeateeeteeeaneeaaeaas 6,997
20 7 ettt ettt e te e e —eeete e e be et e teeetteeae e et e eateeeteeeteeeteeeaneeeaeaas 5,667
2018 AN thETEATTET.......eiiveiieieiie ettt e e et e e et e e e etee s eteeeeeaaeeeentaeeenaees 35,269

TTOTAL <ottt ettt ettt $ 75,467

Rental expense, before sublease income under these operating leases, was $11.9 million, $11.2 million and
$11.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company recovered pre-tax
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amount of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and of $0.1 million for each of the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, from subleases.

14. Statutory Information and Dividend Restrictions

ORC, the Company’s principal operating subsidiary, is subject to state regulatory restrictions that limit the maximum
amount of dividends payable. In any 12-month period, ORC may pay dividends equal to the greater of (i) 10% of statutory
capital and surplus as of the prior year end or (ii) net income for such prior year, without prior approval of the Insurance
Commissioner of the State of Connecticut (the “Connecticut Commissioner”). The maximum amount of dividends which
ORC may pay in 2013, without such prior approval, is $315.5 million, based on ORC’s separate company statutory
financial statements. Connecticut law further provides that (i) ORC must report to the Connecticut Commissioner, for
informational purposes, all dividends and other distributions within five business days after the declaration thereof and at
least ten days prior to payment and (ii) ORC may not pay any dividend or distribution in excess of its earned surplus,
defined as the insurer’s “unassigned funds surplus” reduced by 25% of unrealized appreciation in value or revaluation of
assets or unrealized profits on investments, as reflected in its most recent statutory annual statement on file with the
Connecticut Commissioner, without the Connecticut Commissioner’s approval. The full dividend capacity available during
2013 is $315.5 million; however, $100.0 million of that capacity will not become available until September 2013, and
another $100.0 million will not become available until December 2013. ORC declared and paid dividends of $200.0
million to the Company during the year ended December 31, 2012. ORC did not declare any dividends to the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2011. ORC declared dividends of $512.0 million during the year ended December 31,
2010, of which $225.0 million was paid during 2010. ORC paid the balance of $287.0 million in the form of the common
stock of Clearwater on January 1, 2011. Hudson declared and paid dividends on its preferred shares owned by Clearwater
of $1.3 million and $1.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Clearwater Select
declared and paid dividends on its preferred shares owned by Clearwater of $0.3 million and $0.2 million to Clearwater
during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The following is the consolidated statutory basis net income (loss) and policyholders’ surplus of ORC and its
subsidiaries, for each of the years ended and as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Net NCOME (I0SS).uvvvirieieiieiieeieteteteeeee ettt esenene $ 202,448 $ (26,707)  $ 338,205
Policyholders' SUIPIUS ......civieeiriiiieceee e 3,184,090 3,054,109 3,320,141
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15. Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into various reinsurance arrangements with Fairfax and its affiliates. The amounts included
in or deducted from income, expense, assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, with
respect to reinsurance assumed and ceded from and to affiliates, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, follow (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Assumed:
PremiUmS WIEEEI .....o.vieeeeeeeeee e $ 12,774  $ 15,114  § 13,029
Premiums €arned .......o.ooveveiveeeiiieeeceeeeceeee s 15,504 15,243 15,337
Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses .........ccooeeerrerrrenrenennnn. 12,573 37,176 16,016
ACQUISIEION COSES vurvrinririrrirerireeeiseeeiseetse et sssasseseseens 2,491 4,214 3,697
Reinsurance payable on paid 10SSeS .....cccevreevrieeeiiriririeiennn, 3,128 5,894 1,333
Reinsurance balances receivable ..........ccooooveveivieeeievciiecernee 1,702 3,091 257
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment eXpenses .........c.cevevveunens 82,439 141,959 123,283
Unearned PreMIUIMS ........ccooveriererreesssnsessreesssssessssesssssssssesessesens 3,983 6,620 4,181
Ceded:
Premiums WITEEEIL ...t $ 7,995 $ 2,332 $ (23)
Premiums €armed .........cocceveiviiieieieeeeece e 6,611 1,569 (23)
Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses ........cccecvvereeeeererersnnennns 28,426 (566) 7,256
ACQUISTLION COSES ourvrrirrieiririierisissesissetstsesesssesssse st sssnsessssenns 1,510 207 -
Ceded reinsurance balances payable ..........cccoovevierriereiieennee. 1,167 34 202
Reinsurance recoverables on paid 10SS€S ..c.ccoevvvvveeeriecericenennen (543) (578) (249)
Reinsurance recoverables on unpaid 10SS€S ......ccoceeverevriennnes 45917 1,990 13,949
Unearned PreMIUIS ........cevveuriereeieeereseeeiseeseseseseesssessesessssesssseenes 2,104 739 -

Written premiums assumed from Fairfax’s affiliates in 2012 represent less than 0.5% of OdysseyRe’s total gross
premiums written for the year ended December 31, 2012. The largest amounts of related party assumed business in 2012
were with Northbridge General Insurance Corporation and Fairfax Brasil Seguros Corporativos S.A.

The Company’s subsidiaries have entered into investment management agreements with Fairfax and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Hamblin Watsa Investment Counsel Ltd. These agreements provide for an annual base fee of 0.20% (20 basis
points), calculated and paid quarterly based upon the subsidiary’s average invested assets for the preceding three months.
The agreements also include incentive fees of 0.10% (10 basis points), which are payable if realized gains exceed 1% of the
average investment portfolio in any given year, subject to cumulative realized gains on investments exceeding 1% of the
average investment portfolio. Additional incentive fees are paid based upon the performance of the subsidiary’s equity
portfolio equal to 10% of the return on equities (subject to an annual maximum) in excess of the Standard & Poor’s 500
index plus 200 basis points, provided that the equity portfolio has achieved such excess on a cumulative basis. If the
performance of the equity portfolio does not equal or exceed this benchmark in a given year, the annual base fee, on the
equity portion of the portfolio, is reduced to 0.18% (18 basis points). The aggregate annual investment management fee
payable by each subsidiary, including incentive fees, is capped at 0.40% (40 basis points) of its investment portfolio, with
any excess amounts carried into the following year. These agreements may be terminated by either party on 30 days’ notice.
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For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, total fees, including incentive fees, of $26.7 million, $27.9 million
and $28.5 million, respectively, are included in the consolidated statements of operations.

Included in other expense, net, for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, are accrued charitable
contributions of $3.0 million, $1.1 million and $4.2 million, respectively, to be paid to the OdysseyRe Foundation, a not-
for-profit entity through which the Company provides funding to charitable organizations active in the communities in
which the Company operates.

Due to expense sharing and investment management agreements with Fairfax and its affiliates, the Company has
accrued, on its consolidated balance sheet, amounts receivable from affiliates of $2.5 million and $1.9 million as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and amounts payable to affiliates of $11.0 million and $0.7 million as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Effective May 1, 2010, the Company and Fairfax (US) entered into a $300.0 million two-way revolving credit facility,
under which either party may borrow up to $300.0 million from the other party. On April 1, 2011, the facility amount was
raised to $350.0 million. Loans under the facility are unsecured and bear interest at a rate of 7.5% per annum, payable
quarterly, and the principal amount is payable on demand. Either party may terminate the facility at any time upon demand,
at which time all outstanding principal and unpaid interest shall become due. On May 3, 2010, the Company loaned $200.0
million to Fairfax US under the facility. During 2012 and 2011, Fairfax US repaid $6.7 million and $195.5 million,
respectively, to the Company, resulting in a revolver loan payable balance of $2.2 million as of December 31, 2012, which
is included in debt obligations (See Note 10). As of December 31, 2011, the Company had a loan receivable balance of
$4.5 million which was included in other invested assets. During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the
Company received $4.2 million, $16.1 million and $6.8 million, respectively, of interest from Fairfax (US), related to these
loans. As of December 31, 2012, the Company had an accrued interest payable of less than $0.1 million, due to Fairfax
(US), which is included in other liabilities on the balance sheet. As of December 31, 2011, the Company had an accrued
interest receivable of $0.1 million, due from Fairfax (US), which is included in accrued investment income on the balance
sheet.

Effective May 1, 2012, Hudson entered into an agreement with Northbridge Indemnity Insurance Company and
Commonwealth Insurance Company (“Commonwealth”) which are Fairfax subsidiaries, to acquire the renewal rights for
certain insurance business underwritten by Commonwealth in the U.S. market (the “CW Business”). The purchase price for
these renewal rights was $4.0 million in cash plus a contingent obligation to pay up to $5.0 million in additional
consideration based upon the underwriting profitability of the CW Business for the ensuing five years. The total
consideration for the contract of $8.5 million (which consists of the $4.0 million cash payment plus the net present value of
expected contingent payments as of the acquisition date) has been recorded as an intangible asset and is included in other
assets as of December 31, 2012; the asset is being amortized over five years. As of December 31, 2012, the net present
value of the contingent consideration obligation was $3.6 million and was included in other liabilities.

In December, 2012, the Company redeemed 656 of its common shares held by United States Fire Insurance Company,
a subsidiary of Fairfax, for $45.0 million in cash.

In the ordinary course of the Company’s investment activities, the Company makes investments in investment funds,
limited partnerships and other investment vehicles in which Fairfax or its affiliates may also be investors.

16. Employee Benefits

The Company provides its employees with benefits through various plans as described below. Effective August 1,
2011, the Company implemented modifications to the qualified defined benefit pension plan, the non-qualified excess
benefit plans, the qualified deferred compensation plan, the non-qualified deferred compensation plan, and the
postretirement benefit plan. The changes to these plans did not affect eligibility for, or benefit levels provided to, employees
hired prior to August 1, 2011. However, employees hired on or after August 1, 2011 are not eligible to participate in the
qualified defined benefit pension plan, the non-qualified excess benefit plans, or the post-retirement benefit plan. Such
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employees are eligible for enhanced benefits under the qualified deferred compensation plan and, if applicable, the non-
qualified deferred compensation plan, as described below under “Other Plans.”

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Company maintains a qualified, non-contributory, defined benefit pension plan (“Pension Plan”) covering
substantially all employees hired prior to August 1, 2011 who have reached age twenty-one and who have completed one
year of service. Employer contributions to the Plan are in accordance with the minimum funding requirements of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

The amortization period for unrecognized pension costs and credits, including prior service costs, if any, and actuarial
gains and losses, is based on the remaining service period for those employees expected to receive pension benefits.
Actuarial gains and losses result when actual experience differs from that assumed or when actuarial assumptions are
changed.

The following tables set forth the Pension Plan’s unfunded status and accrued pension cost recognized in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

2012 2011
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning Of YEAr ..........ccociruerierieieiiieierieieteeee e $ 95038 $ 76,346
SEIVICE COST uvviiiiiiieieie ettt ettt e e e et e e e e et et e e e eataeeeeeeaaaeeeeeesaaeeeeeeasaseeseasaneeseaianns 7,286 6,632
J 0SS A o0 1] RS 4,678 4,493
ACTUATIAL LOSS. ..ttt e et e ettt e e e et a e e e e s et e eeseeaaaeeeeeas 17,940 8,548
BeNefIts PAIA ....eiviieieiieieiee ettt ettt ettt ea et eee (4,632) (928)
Effect of CUIrtailment.........cccuieiieiiieie ettt ettt e e e e enaeeeaeas - (53)
Benefit obligation at end Of YEAT .........cccveiiiiiiiiieiecie e 120,310 95,038
Change in Plan assets:
Fair value of Pension Plan assets at beginning of year ............cccovveeviienieiiienie e 76,595 66,949
Actual return on Pension PIan @SSELS ........coccuviiiiiiiiiiie ettt 9,898 6,574
Actual contributions during the YEar .........c.cccuieeieiierieeiieiieeie et eae e 6,968 4,000
BENETItS PAIA ..vvieiiieiii ettt st e et e aa e e aaestaeebeeareeaaens (4,632) (928)
Fair value of Pension Plan assets at end of year ..........ccoooieiiiiiieniiiiieeee e 88,829 76,595
Unfunded status and accrued pension COSt .........ccueririrrieriirierieniieienie et $ (31,481) $ (18,443)

The net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets related to the accrued pension cost of $31.5 million and
$18.4 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, is included in other liabilities. The net amount of
accumulated other comprehensive loss recognized is $16.0 million and $3.3 million, before taxes, as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the fair value and percentage of fair value of the total Pension Plan assets are as
follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2012 2011
EQUILY SECUTIHIES ..ovivieiietieiieieiiieteeeee et $ 43,840 494 % $ 40,506 529 %
Fixed INCOME SECUTILIES ...oovviivieeieieeeeie et 20,898 23.5 20,237 26.4
Pooled investment hedge fund .........ccocooevieininninciiiecee, 10,758 12.1 8,777 11.5
MONEY MATKEL ..ottt 13 333 15.0 7,075 9.2
Fair value of Plan asSets .........ccocoeieuieeiieeeieceeeeeeeeeeee e $ 88,829 1000 % $ 76,595 100.0 %

The Pension Plan seeks to maximize the economic value of its investments by applying a long-term, value-oriented
approach to optimize the total investment returns of the Pension Plan’s invested assets. Assets are transferred and allocated
among various investment vehicles, when appropriate. The long-term rate of return assumption is based on this flexibility
to adjust to market conditions. The actual return on assets has historically been in line with the Company’s assumptions of
expected returns. During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company contributed $7.0 million and
$4.0 million, respectively, to the Pension Plan. The Company currently expects to make a contribution to the Pension Plan
of $5.8 million in 2013.

The Company accounts for its Pension Plan assets at fair value as required by GAAP. The Company has categorized
its Pension Plan assets, based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique, into a three-level fair value hierarchy.
The Company uses the three-level hierarchy approach that is described in Note 4.

For determining the fair value of the Company’s Level 1 Pension Plan assets, quoted market prices are used. The
majority of these Pension Plan assets are common stocks that are actively traded in a public market. The Pension Plan’s
money market account, for which the cost basis approximates fair value, is also classified as a Level 1 investment.

The Company’s Level 2 Pension Plan assets, the majority of which are in government, corporate and municipal fixed
income securities, are priced using publicly traded over-the-counter prices and broker-dealer quotes. Observable inputs
such as benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads and bids are available for these investments.

The Company’s Level 3 Pension Plan assets are valued by a third party, providing a net asset value, by using
valuation techniques that include unobservable inputs. Generally, hedge funds invest in securities that trade in active
markets, and as a result, their net asset values reflect their fair values. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the
Pension Plan investments that are classified as Level 3 had a fair value of $10.8 million. During the year ended December
31, 2012, there was no activity for the investments that are classified as Level 3, other than an increase in market value of
$2.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Pension Plan investments that are classified as Level 3 had a
fair value of $8.8 million. During the year ended December 31, 2011, there was no activity for the Pension Plan
investments that are classified as Level 3, other than an increase in market value of $0.8 million.
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The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for those Pension Plan assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2012

Assets Quoted Prices in Significant
Measured at Active Markets Other Significant
Fair Value for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EQUILY SECUTILIES .ovuiveeeeeeieeiciecieieie et $ 43,840 $ 43840 $ - $ -
DEbt SECUTTHIES ....vveevvieieiieteeeeecteeee ettt 20,898 - 20,898 -
Pooled investment hedge fund .......ccocoeecevvicinnccnncens 10,758 - - 10,758
MONEY MATKET .....ovreiiiieciiicicicce e 13,333 13,333 - -
Total Pension Plan assets measured at fair value ........ $ 88,829 $ 57173  § 20,398 $ 10,758

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2011

Assets Quoted Prices in Significant
Measured at Active Markets Other Significant
Fair Value for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
EQUILY SECUTILIES .ovuivoeeeeieeiciecieieie et $ 40,506 $ 40,506  $ - $ -
DEbBt SECUTIEIES ... 20,237 - 20,237 -
Pooled investment hedge fund .........coooeveniviincnncnnne 8,777 - - 8,777
MONEY MATKEL ...ovveieeieiirieiieeie e snees 7,075 7,075 - -
Total Pension Plan assets measured at fair value ........ $ 76,595 $ 47,581  $ 20,237 $ 8,777

The weighted average assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as
follows:

2012 2011
DISCOUNE TALE ...ttt ettt ettt bbbttt en 425 % 5.00 %
Rate of COMPENSALION INCTEASE ......c.ervrvereririirieieient sttt 3.66 % 3.66 %

The discount rate represents the Company’s estimate of the interest rate at which the Pension Plan’s benefits could be
effectively settled. The discount rates are used in the measurement of the expected and accumulated postretirement benefit
obligations and the service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost.

Net periodic benefit cost included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is comprised of the following (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
SEIVICE COST cunviiiaieeeee et ettt ettt $ 7,286 $ 6,632 $ 5,898
INEETESE COSE oottt e et e e e aaee e e eareeas 4,678 4,493 3,925
Return on Plan @SSEtS .......c.eeeeieieriirieeieeieieeiesie et (4,655) (4,019) (3,444)
Net amortization and deferral 48 95 63
Net periodic Benefit COSt .....orurimiiririreiei et $ 7,357 $ 7,201 $ 6,442
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The Company estimates that it will record a $9.3 million expense related to the net periodic benefit cost during the
year ended December 31, 2013. The Company does not expect any refunds of Pension Plan assets during the year ended
December 31, 2013.

The weighted average assumptions used to calculate the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
DISCOUNT TALE ..ttt ettt e st e e e 5.00 % 6.00 % 6.00 %
Rate of compensation INCIEASE ........cccueerueeriteriierierieenreeieenee e e niee e enanes 3.66 % 5.69 % 5.62 %
Expected long term rate of return on Pension Plan assets ..............c..ccoccenne 6.00 % 6.00 % 6.00 %

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Pension Plan is $99.4 million and $79.0 million as of the December 31,
2012 and 2011 measurement dates, respectively.

The Plan’s expected future benefit payments are shown below (in thousands):

Year Amount

1 0 USRS $ 8,410
20Tttt e h bt h et a e ettt h e bttt et ettt et e 4,340
1 (TSP 5,610
20T00 ettt bttt e eh bt h et e a e ettt e bbbt ettt st nae e enee 5,770
0 O OSSOSO PSPPI 8,830
20T8 = 2022ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt a e ettt ea e e en e et e eateea s e s e e Rt e st et e enteeneeenee st e eseeeneeeseeeneenns 44,580

Excess Benefit Plans

The Company maintains two non-qualified excess benefit plans (“Excess Plans”) that provide more highly
compensated officers and employees, hired prior to August 1, 2011, with defined retirement benefits in excess of qualified
plan limits imposed by federal tax law. The following tables set forth the combined amounts recognized for the Excess
Plans in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

2012 2011
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning Of YEAT ..........c.ccivviieieriieieieieeereeeee et $ 17,150 $ 16,714
SEIVICE COSE -.uvnitiienietiteieetiet ettt ettt ettt ettt b et et ae et e bt e e e st sb e eseebesaeneenens 761 873
INEETESE COST ...ttt ettt bt sttt 831 975
Actuarial 10SS (ZAIN) ..c.vevirveiviiiieieierieeteete ettt ste sttt estestesaeeseessesseseeseeteeseensessensenseans 790 (644)
Benefits PAIA ..oveviiieiieiieceee ettt be e e (975) (768)
Benefit obligation at end Of YEAT .....cc.cceeieiiiiiiicieeieeeeee e 18,557 17,150
Change in Excess Plans' assets:
Fair value of Excess Plans' assets at beginning of Year ...........cceceevveriereneveeieieeneneee - -
Actual contributions during the YEar .........ceceruivieieieieieseeeeeeeee e 975 768
BENETIS PAIA ...vovieeieieeieeiieteee ettt ettt sttt et b ene e (975) (768)
Fair value of Excess Plans' assets at end of Year ..........ccceeveeievieniinininiciee e - -
Unfunded status and accrued pension COSt .........ecvrireiririeieereieeeseeie e $ (18,557)  § (17,150)

75



ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets related to the accrued pension cost of $18.6 million and
$17.1 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, is included in other liabilities. The net amount of

accumulated other comprehensive loss recognized is $2.7 million and $2.0 million, before taxes, as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

The weighted average assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as
follows:

2012 2011
DISCOUNE TALE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sa ettt b et ne e 425 % 5.00 %
Rate 0f COMPENSAtION INCIEASE ......eovieuiriirtiieiieiieiieicrte ettt ettt ettt 3.66 % 3.66 %

The discount rate represents the Company’s estimate of the interest rate at which the Excess Plans’ benefits could be
effectively settled. The discount rates are used in the measurement of the expected and accumulated post retirement benefit
obligations and the service and interest cost components of net periodic post retirement benefit cost.

Net periodic benefit cost included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is comprised of the following (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
SEIVICE COSE uvintiitie ettt ettt e e e et e e eaeeeaeean $ 761 $ 873 $ 719
TNEETESE COSE ..viiiiiiieiiiee ittt ettt e et e et e et eeenseeenneeas 831 975 914
Recognized net actuarial 10SS .......cc.eeriiiiieniieniieie e 126 133 110
Recognized Prior SEIVICE COSE ...uiiuiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt (37) (37) (37)
Net periodic benefit COSt .......uriiiimiiiiiiiei e $ 1,681 $ 1,944 $ 1,706

The Company estimates that it will record a $1.7 million expense related to the net periodic benefit cost during the
year ended December 31, 2013.

The weighted average assumptions used to calculate the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
DISCOUNE TALE ...eneeieviiieiireetetctcet ettt 5.00 % 6.00 % 6.00 %
Rate of coOmMpPensation INCTEASE ..........c.eeeerirervevereieriririreetereeetresererescerenenes 3.66 % 5.69 % 5.62 %

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Excess Plans is $14.3 million and $13.4 million as of December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively.
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The Excess Plans’ expected benefit payments are shown below (in thousands):

Year Amount

20 L3 e bbb et e h bt h e e bt e e e et et atea e et ettt a e e ae e e s $ 1,070
2014 e e 1,090
20 L S b et h e a e st 1,070
20701ttt 1,610
2017 e e 1,020
2018 = 2022ttt b a e et a e s h et ae bttt ettt 14,330

A trust fund, which was established related to the Excess Plans, is included in other invested assets, and had a fair
value of $1.9 million and $2.6 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Plan benefits are paid by the
Company as they are incurred by the participants, accordingly, there are no assets held directly by the Excess Plans.

The Company expects to contribute $1.1 million to the Excess Plans during the year ended December 31, 2013, which
represents the amount necessary to fund the 2013 expected benefit payments.

Postretirement Benefit Plan

The Company provides certain health care and life insurance (“postretirement”) benefits for retired employees.
Substantially all employees hired prior to August 1, 2011 may become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement
age while working for the Company. The Company’s cost for providing postretirement benefits other than pensions is
accounted for in accordance with ASC 715, “Compensation — Retirement Benefits.” The following tables set forth the
amounts recognized for the postretirement benefit plan in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

2012 2011
Change in projected benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of YEar ...........coceveririiinineneie e $ 38,182 $ 30,047

SEIVICE COST 1uviiiutiieiiieeitieeee et e et e et e eteeeeteeeae e e s e eetseeeteeeeteeeabeeeaseeesseeseeesseeeaseeesseeseeaareens 4,229 3,338

TNEEIEST COST .uvvviiiiiiiiitee et et e e e e ettt e e e e e e e aeeeeeeeeeeaaaraeeeeeeeenas 1,652 1,606

ACTUATTAL LOSS.....ee ettt e et e et e e et e e e eae e e e eta e e e eteeeeeaaaeeenaes 3,104 3,730
Benefits Paid ....cc.eoeiiiieii ettt (628) (626)

OTRET ettt ettt ettt ettt et be et ea e n e 154 87

Benefit obligation at end of Year ...........ccooiiiiiiiiii e 46,693 38,182
Unfunded status and accrued prepaid pension COSt ........cceevvrierierierieeienieeieeieieens $ (46,693) $ (38,182)

The net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets related to the accrued benefit cost of $46.7 million and
$38.2 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, is included in other liabilities. The net amount of
accumulated other comprehensive loss, before taxes, recognized is $12.9 million and $10.5 million as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

The weighted average assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as
follows:

2012 2011
DISCOUNL TALE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt be bttt et eneenes 395 % 436 %
Rate of cOMPENSation IMCTEASE .......cevvieuiiriieieriieiie ettt ettt 4.00 % 4.00 %

The discount rate represents the Company’s estimate of the interest rate at which the postretirement benefit plan benefits
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could be effectively settled. The discount rates are used in the measurement of the expected and accumulated post
retirement benefit obligations and the service and interest cost of net periodic post retirement benefit cost.

Net periodic benefit cost included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is comprised of the following (in thousands):

2012 2011 2010
Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
SEIVICE COSE ittt ettt et e et e e et e e et e e et e e eaeeeeeaaeeens $ 4,229 $ 3,338 $ 2,946
INEEIEST COSE ..ot e e e e eeaaee e 1,652 1,606 1,394
Net amortization and deferral............cccooovviiiiiiiiiiieecee e 733 409 252
Net periodic benefit COSt .....ooiiimimiiiiiiiiitiiet et $ 6,614 $ 5,353 $ 4,592

The Company estimates that it will record $7.5 million in net periodic benefit costs relating to this plan during the
year ended December 31, 2013.

The weighted average assumptions used to calculate the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2012 2011 2010
DISCOUNTE TALE ..ottt bbb 436 % 539 % 575 %
Rate of comPensation INCIEASE ........c.eeververrerierierieieieieieieeeeee e eeeee e eneene e 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 %

The accumulated benefit obligation for the postretirement plan was $46.7 million and $38.2 million as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The postretirement plan’s expected benefit payments are shown below (in thousands):

Year Amount

10 TSSOSO SRS $ 706
20 ettt b e ht e ea bt e e bt bt e e bt e e bt e e ea bt e e bt e e bt e anbe e et eeabeeennbeeenbeenn 837
B0 TSSO PSSP 1,019
200 et ettt b e bt e et e ea bt e e bt e e bt e e Rt e e eh bt e ea b bt e e bt e e ehteeenbeeeabeeenb e e nneeeaneas 1,240
10 O OO OSSR PRTRPSRP 1,458
2018 = 2022ttt ettt ettt b ettt et a et R bt eat e eh e e e Rt e h e ekt e eaeeehe ekt e bt e bt e bt e bt eneenean 11,925

The annual assumed rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits (i.e., health care cost trend rate) is
assumed to be 7.68% in 2012, decreasing to 4.50% in 2027 and remaining constant thereafter. The health care cost trend
rate assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. For example, increasing the assumed health care cost trend
rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $9.1 million
(19.6% of the benefit obligation as of December 31, 2012) and the service and interest cost components of net periodic
postretirement benefit costs by $1.3 million for 2012. Decreasing the assumed health care cost trend rates by one
percentage point in each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and the service and interest
cost components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2012 by $7.3 million and $1.0 million, respectively.

Other Plans

The Company also maintains a defined contribution profit sharing plan for all eligible employees. Each year, the
Board of Directors may authorize payment of an amount equal to a percentage of each participant’s basic annual earnings

78



ODYSSEY RE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

based on the experience of the Company for that year. These amounts are credited to the employee’s account maintained by
a third party, which has contracted to provide benefits under the plan. No contributions were authorized in 2012, 2011 or
2010.

The Company maintains a qualified deferred compensation plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended. Employees may contribute up to 50% of base salary on a pre-tax basis, subject to annual
maximum contributions set by law ($17,000 in 2012). The Company contributes an amount equal to 100% of each
employee’s pre-tax contribution up to certain limits. The maximum matching contribution is 4.0% of annual base salary,
with certain government-mandated restrictions on contributions to highly compensated employees. The Company also
maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation plan to allow for contributions in excess of qualified plan limitations. The
Company’s contributions to these plans of $2.4 million in 2012, $2.0 million in 2011 and $2.3 million in 2010, are included
in other underwriting expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Effective January 1, 2012, all employees hired on or after August 1, 2011 will be eligible for an annual profit sharing
contribution, subject to Plan limitations. The Company will make this contribution regardless of whether or not elective
deferrals were made during the year. The first profit sharing contribution will be paid in January 2013 and then each
January thereafter and will use prior year’s 401(k) compensation (base pay, short-term disability earnings and any overtime
earnings) to determine the actual contribution for each employee. These profit sharing contributions will be calculated as a
percentage of earnings at the end of each year and allocated to participant accounts in January of the following year.

The profit sharing contribution percentages are based upon each employee’s years of service as follows:

Years of Service Percent
Less than or equal to 5 years 6%
More than 5 years but less than or equal to 15 7%
More than 15 years 8%

The profit sharing contribution amounts will vest based upon the following vesting schedule:

Years of Service Percent
Less than 2 years 0%
2 years but less than 3 20%
3 years but less than 4 40%
4 years but less than 5 60%
5 years but less than 6 80%
6 years or more 100%
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17. Restricted Equity Value Rights and Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company had previously established three stock-based compensation plans (the “Stock-Based Compensation
Plans”): the Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Option Plan”), the Odyssey Re Holdings
Corp. Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Option Plan”) and the Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. Restricted Share Plan (the
“Restricted Share Plan”). The Stock-Based Compensation Plans generally provided officers, key employees and directors
who were employed by or provided services to the Company, with stock options and/or restricted share awards. As a result
of the delisting of the Company’s publicly-traded stock in 2009, the Stock-Based Compensation Plans were amended to
allow for the conversion, substitution and issuance of REVRs (see Note 2(1)).

REVR Plan

In connection with the delisting of the Company’s publicly-traded stock, each unvested restricted share under the
Restricted Share Plan (a “Restricted Share”) was cancelled and converted into a right to acquire $65.00 in cash, without
interest (a “Restricted Cash Unit”), subject to the same vesting, transfer and other restrictions that applied to the Restricted
Shares. Under the terms of the REVR Plan, certain holders of Restricted Cash Units elected to convert each of their
Restricted Cash Units into 1.2524 REVRs, which REVRs are subject to the same vesting, transfer and other restrictions that
applied to the Restricted Cash Units.

In connection with the delisting of the Company’s publicly-traded stock, the common shares underlying each unvested
option granted under the 2001 Option Plan and 2002 Option Plan were substituted with 1.2524 REVRs. Each unvested
option became exercisable for REVRs, subject to the same terms and conditions, including the vesting schedule, as
applicable to such option prior to the substitution.

Under the terms of the REVR Plan, each REVR has a value (the “REVR Value”) equal to the most recently reported
common shareholders’ equity of the Company, as adjusted in accordance with the REVR Plan, divided by 58,443,149,
which was the number of the Company’s common shares outstanding as of the establishment of the REVR Plan. Upon
vesting of a REVR, a participant will receive a single sum cash payment equal to the REVR value as of the applicable
vesting date, less any applicable withholding of taxes. The REVRs will be subject to the terms and conditions of the REVR
Plan, including vesting and termination of employment provisions, and will not be paid until a participant satisfies the
applicable vesting requirements.

The following table summarizes activity for the Restricted Cash Units and REVR Plan for the year ended December
31,2012:

Restricted Cash

Units REVRs
Outstanding as of December 31, 201 1. ..cooviiviiiiiieieieieieeceeeeee e 2,685 336,664
VESEEA. ..ottt ettt ettt ete e eteeeae e eaeans (2,685) (268,098)
FOTTRItEA. .. ettt ettt ettt et et be e enas - (542)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012.......ccooiiiiiriiiiieieeeeeeeee e - 68,024

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recorded a liability of $3.4 million and $13.6 million for the
REVRs and Restricted Cash Units, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company
recognized an expense related to the REVRs and Restricted Cash Units of $6.4 million, $11.9 million and $24.6 million,
respectively. The total tax benefit relating to the REVRs and Restricted Cash Units recognized for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $2.2 million, $4.2 million and $8.6 million, respectively.
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The remaining REVRs generally vest over the next two years. The amount of the future REVR obligations to be
expensed during the next two years is $1.3 million. The average vesting period of the remaining REVRs is 1.2 years.

Fairfax Restricted Share Plan and Share Option Plan

In 1999, Fairfax established the Fairfax Financial 1999 Restricted Share Plan (the “Fairfax Restricted Share Plan”)
and the Share Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) (collectively, the “Plans”), in which the Company was allowed to
participate. The Plans generally provided officers, key employees and directors who were employed by or provided
services to the Company with awards of restricted shares or stock options (with a grant price of zero) of Fairfax common
stock (collectively, “Restricted Share Awards™). The Restricted Share Awards generally vest over a period of three to
seven years. The Company had 83,786 Restricted Share Awards outstanding as of December 31, 2012.

The fair value of the Restricted Share Awards is estimated on the date of grant based on the market price of Fairfax’s
stock and is amortized to compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the related vesting periods. The Company
purchases Fairfax common stock on the open market following the grant of a Restricted Share Award and reflects such
purchase as a reduction in the Company’s additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2012, there was $28.1 million of
unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested Restricted Share Awards granted from the Plans that was netted
against additional paid-in capital, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of
2.7 years. The total fair value of the Restricted Share Awards granted during 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $17.7 million and
$10.8 million and $13.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2012, the aggregate fair value of the Restricted Share
Awards outstanding was $32.6 million. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company recognized
expense related to the Fairfax Restricted Share Plan of $6.2 million, $4.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes activity for the Fairfax Restricted Share Plan and the Option Plan for the year ended
December 31, 2012:

Weighted-

Shares / Average Value

Options at Grant Date

Restricted share awards outstanding as of December 31, 2011 65,036 $ 372.37
Granted 19,400 398.99
Vested.................. (254) 351.47
Forfeited (396) 385.10
Restricted share awards outstanding as of December 31, 2012..........ccoeeiieiriereieienniins 83,786 $ 378.54
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2012........c.ooveviiiieieeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeveeee e 230 $ 217.60

Employee Share Purchase Plans

In 2010, the Company established the Odyssey Re Holdings Corp. (Non-Qualified) 2010 Employee Share Purchase
Plan (the “2010 ESPP”). Under the terms of the 2010 ESPP, eligible employees are given the election to purchase Fairfax
common shares in an amount up to 10% of their annual base salary. The Company purchases, on the employee’s behalf, a
number of Fairfax’s common shares equal in value to 30% of the employee’s contribution. In the event that the Company
achieves a growth in common shareholders’ equity of at least 15% in any calendar year, additional shares are purchased by
the Company for the employee’s benefit, in an amount equal in value to 20% of the employee’s contribution during that
year. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company purchased 10,212 Fairfax common shares on behalf of
employees pursuant to the 2010 ESPP, at an average purchase price of $372.30. The compensation expense recognized by
the Company for purchases of Fairfax’s common shares under the 2010 ESPP was $0.8 million, $0.9 million and $0.5
million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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18. Transfer of Ownership of Clearwater (Unaudited)

The following tables summarize the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December
31, 2010 as reported and on a pro forma basis as if the transfer of ownership of Clearwater to TIG occurred on January 1,
2009 (in thousands):

Consolidated Statement of O perations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

OdysseyRe
Less Excluding
As Reported Clearwater Clearwater
Gross premiums written....... . . . $ 2,167,338 $ 288 $ 2,167,626
Net premiums written............. . . . 1,853,798 (168) 1,853,630
Net premiums earned.... . 1,885,714 (190) 1,885,524
Net investment income........ . . . 327,875 (39,942) 287,933
Total net realized investment gains ...... . e 170,349 (28,638) 141,711
Total revenues..... . . . 2,383,938 (68,770) 2,315,168
Losses and loss adjustment expenses.......... . . 1,317,053 (65,650) 1,251,403
Acquisition costs and other underwriting expenses.... . . 541,448 (1,837) 539,611
Interest and other expense, net . . . e 94,055 - 94,055
Total expenses..... . . . 1,952,556 (67,487) 1,885,069
Income before income tax.. e 431,382 (1,283) 430,099
Total federal and foreign income tax provision....... . . 98,107 15915 114,022
Net Income.. . . 333,275 (17,198) 316,077
Preferred dividends........coccooieiinieiiniiicieeceeen . (3,966) - (3,966)
Loss on redemption of preferred shares . . e (2,183) - (2,183)
Gain on purchase of preferred shares . s 5 - 5
Net income available to common shareholders...... s $ 327,131 $ (17,198) $ 309,933
Underwriting Ratio:
Loss and loss adjustment expense ratio........ . 69.8 % 66.4 %
Acquisition costs and other underwriting expense ratio...........ccceceeervereecenenne 28.8 28.6
Combined ratio . . 98.6 % 95.0 %
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